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Dldwdefivwazeniy cas Dunznignudy (ecfimbaoargias.
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4. (38 (s ¥9AEIvNUNSUIAIUNT

I (uar97WNIVGU29INSVIAIY

2024

v

2023

fiu

(JUantud (Dosziivwn 4.1)

22,791,658,130

21,982,714,794

goajudan (WMsVIIVN1) VINBIGU
dandnaalasse1d (s GudIngasa)

(fosztivaad 4.2) 140,317,427,319  142,969,826,501
augtuuda waz argnrwnjuchaGuda
(faasvivas 6) 163,109,085,449  164,952,541,295
(JuNINDntasze10 1y (JUEINSIS9IOIU
AzuIuNIWNUNEUINIUNIY (Dngstiviui 4.3) 666,933,630,060 630,045,209,821
830,042,715,509  794,997,751,116
4.1 Guialud
2024 2023
fiu fiu
(uRnTud - senuiuniy 7,795,081,500 6,925,877,500
(uRnTud — senuiuninidzmnn 14,996,576,630 15,056,837,294
22,791,658,130 21,982,714,794
4.2 gaacdiogdnsuiaiuni) usnwigsanudaninilotassse1a Az GuUdInniy
ATUJUNIY
2024 2023
fiu fiu
GueInnIusins9)isnau 140,317,427,319 142,969,826,501

4.3 Gudaniasze1a, Gudaninalda «az

(JUELINOIVATUFUNIVAVNSU 11U 01

AUU 219
2024 2023
fiu fiv
1599011 UATUTUNIU (i) 5,919,449,587 10,338,893,074
Sudanidign (i) 88,360,867 88,360,867
(gueaindnidntagzero (i) 660,925,819,606 619,617,955,880
666,933,630,060 630,045,209,821
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(uarw7wNIVGU29INEVIaIY I A
NWWPUNINICETY 2024

i). c‘j’ufJ°mczjj°1ﬁzﬁ§ngﬂ‘r,5ﬁuzn::mmnmjmua::ujumu. ajenc‘j’mlmzﬁﬁo‘cilc’ﬂuaz:jm‘j’uﬁuﬁn‘ta'l
8% (2023: 8%) az 11% (2024: 10%) QSjaumc‘j’aJmijucmocéu eNUIU U0 (THB) €z
101230 (USD) 29jercjmJmmjmmznanmmnmzn“mmucau (Jueandzdn, Wannzes
103U 1z tindnlolud. udmmuazusunudciuddosnde.

i), nzmnwdEnzeduRuuainiivnzun oy UU 279. %mom‘j’uwmaﬁﬁc’ﬂmjjmxﬁﬂtumu
E]‘lﬁﬁﬂJj’liJ?SjU]u‘U’lﬂﬂlJ muﬁnauUjuauﬁucanﬁ 01/0y A3SUH 28 Djnsu 2010 U
Yaziin waz S21mzen Alsingunosy, ODUGeIRI599 25% 293RUINNLUTY Kax
ijjmusm‘tu Suunieoud tESunend.

iii). (JueaindMmintavzaraiuSngrtdNunzuin «n) Y 10 D8nmnsndy 6.50% (2024:
6.50%) 0O waeSW 3 T (2024: 3 V).

. GudaniunsuIaIusY

(Jueainfivnzuinaudu St ui:

2024 2023
fiu v
Guelindzneududn war wnwnjuditiudo 29.334,497,654 6,706,685,987

c‘j’u&lmﬁumzmmwgu 21,568,000,000 40,110,000,000
50,902,497,654 46,816,685,987
n) Scarznruasyrduniucy

2024 2023
fiv fiv

gaacgisnivnsuiarwwrsiulzana

NZUIN NIWAINIJULNNRIDLULNIBY -
12WLASUYDIDJI U 16,406,050,345 1,365,601,783
16,406,050,345 1,365,601,783

goaigfivnzuiaruiuajyzana

NZUINIW 2USIU — Yznntn (Dngziiuly 25)

10,454,628,983

2,372,371,672

JP Morgan - Jzinngemz3n91clan? 2,473,818,326 2,968,712,532
12,928,447,309 5,341,084,204

aautuGuda was arsniwnjuchaGuda

(a9zuiury 6) 29,334,497,654 6,706,685,987
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I (uar97WNIVGU29INSVIAIY

2024 2023

fiv fiv

(Jueaniunzuiniuwis 21,568,000,000 10,110,000,000

NTVINIWNEENSU N 70 - 10,000,000,000

NI tajsuczﬁejﬁu 10 PNNGNFo - 20,000,000,000

MSUIAVMIJAHY 219 190 21,568,000,000 40,110,000,000
2) Jarz01uILNUAV

2024 2023

fiv fiv

ssnuuiivnzviawwisiudzsna

nu 11,015,665,711 30,487,853,899
(g 26,075,140,448 10,444,327,590
U0 883,244,186 543,420,294

37,974,050,345 41,475,601,783

gznuuiivnzvIanivagdsann

10an 2,473,818,326 2,968,712,532
U10 (J09ziusn 25) 10,454,628,983 2,372,371,672
12,928,447,309 5,341,084,204
50,902,497,654 46,816,685,987

6. Guda waz argnwnjuctiaGuda
2024 2023
fiy fiy
(a0 «az vsnisdNunzuiniunig (Dnestiule 4) 163,109,085,449 164,952,541,295
Sutinfivnzwinwsy (Sossfue 5) 29,334,497,654 6,706,685,987
192,443,583,103  171,659,227,282

22



(uarw7wNIVGU29INEVIaIY I

7. Gulvinidu waz Guaajvirloignda

nzu1a1y 91cSad 219 1Na6njo

NIURWPUNINIVTY 2024

2024 2023
iy iy
GUIANILU Az (Juaognliitdiand 385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628
(Jus (1,928,870,869) (12,262,105,965)
383,845,395,587 407,750,658,663
GUAADL cay JuaointdignaatdSmazisaud:
Nn. 3ta1snIuISNUGY
2024 2023
fiy fiy
Ny 378,661,883,505 398,754,439,118
{shE! 7,112,382,951 21,258,325,510
385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628
2. Jcarznruvzwauivindy
2024 2023
fiv fiv
(GULANHLTNNEd 385,774,266,456 395,166,145,427
RtieISumaluIn ; 24,846,619,201
385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628
a. carzorunivdadzsawalay MsUIAIY (01) YUY 219
2024 2023
fiu fiu

Guivindudnnza
Inned g e

(81l8 9 Somuiien

385,774,266,456

393,828,308,009
1,337,837,418

Uﬁﬁsﬁumowm

c"ﬁméwmmmu - 8,274,322.772

U‘%é‘xj‘Za . 15,948,661,956

STy ; 623,634,473
385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628
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7. Jtarzn1uI1991U0V

I (uar97WNIVGU29INSVIAIY

2024 2023

fiv fiv

anéaa 385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628
2. dtarsnru2soNInNIVEansia

2024 2023

fiu fiv

22IINIWTIINI 273,974,360,129 248,783,352,245
220NV 36,942,083,864 50,795,714,869
25(mUINL N 22,134,157,878 24,177,985,143
23&511113@0:11813321’1 14,611,686,499 23,115,846,527
2eouINIUNE 4,857,852,529 11,636,106,371
2xoINIWBLE] (ar S0 1,527,158,975 17,257,219,094
2NN N 858,992,148 893,876,106
23EEU1JjT|"11J§1Jf_] 30,867,974,434 43,352,664,273
385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628

2. Scarznruwuaciia
2024 2023
fiu fiu
wuciag wiwtudzinn 384,477,694,058 418,706,102,460
wUADE Mgdzenn 1,296,572,398 1,306,662,168
385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628




(uarw7wNIVGU29INEVIaIY I

2. darznruyindvarvzny

nzu1a1y 91cSad 219 1Na6njo

NIURWPUNINIVTY 2024

2024 2023
fiu fiu
zfjné’ufl 1WzNVADTYGUN 385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628
2024 2023
fiy fiy

1599 (Juusvioty
vonifefiud 2,009,276,034 1,469,620,246
21599 uEsTuY 18,217,816,854 18,458,480,067
{jnﬁnmvmuéﬂsmuﬁ’mcs‘m% (18,304,872,499) (18,052,631,141)
SOUMYINSONILINY U 6,650,480 133,806,862
tududi 31 vivaa 1,928,870,869 2,009,276,034
2024 2023
fiv fiv

S1899(JUUSAS (WL

voniietiud 10,252,829,931 3,570,220,303
21599JUs U 26,121,432,933 25,715,684,811
JuduaronuseySucsiud (14,642,185,066)  (17,705,457,529)
ey (21,749,501,021) (1,504,388,859)
SOUMYIINSONICANYJU 17,423,223 176,771,205
tudua 31 vivan - 10,252,829,931
muSndzwnUSUA 31 diuor 2024 Heditdi:
2024 2023
fiy fiy

Guivindudnzi

Inned g e

1,928,870,869

1,969,140,911

(81l8 9 Somuiien - 40,135,123

U%E]Sj%UU]OjEJ’Iﬂ

Eﬁm:’nmmmmu - 1,654,864,477

u%é‘xﬁa - 7,974,330,981

ST ; 623,634,473
1,928,870,869 12,262,105,965
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N I (uar97WNIVGU29INSVIAIY
NIWWPUNINIUCTY 2024

8. datuniuiilssudu

2024 2023
fiu v
Gudin
dui 1 Jyney 14,893,802,859 14,907,232,837
Wudy (i) ; (13,429,978)
Juu 31 vivoa 14,893,802,859 14,893,802,859
a13suyuaagczdu
dui 1 Jinsw (10,154,269,819) (8,988,256,670)
aSe LUl (1,085,064,629) (1,166,013,149)
duui 31 vivaa (11,239,334,448) (10,154,269,819)
yuanwiuggavi wdus 31 vivoa 3,654,468,411 4,739,533,040

SolunuiitggudutinSusnyogejnudvaagizejgiinguingddmluuty was 121 d0wdnI
(U8 waz Jwaton.

() enduyy  cov2ufiunudjugznudulunugazardtiazy lwivegizeigizailona1n
Tnwadunu.
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(uarw7wNIVGU29INEVIaIY I

<«

10. Sududajnviidodu

nzu1a1y 91cSad 219 1Na6njo
NIURWPUNINIVTY 2024

niwdjucdigenidieeeIZuduaiyi 00800y $13udEugndui 31 Hiuol 2024 JH9l:

Wanuasydiatd  Nadjaacivgau* AR T
fiu v fiu
Gudiv:
dun 1 Jnsy 2024 15,262,279,228 280,726,798 15,543,006,026
W uSuTuY 1,665,930,323 - 1,665,930,323
niu3ndzcwnTou 61,531,224 (61,531,224) -
NIVKLK] (1,823,945,216) - (1,823,945,216)
tudua 31 viuaa 2024 15,165,795,559 219,195,574 15,384,991,133
a13suyuaagzdu
W3 1 Jynew 2024 (9,918,723,141) - (9,918,723,141)
8o ud (1,711,294,506) ~ (1,711,294,506)
NIUKLLK) 1,823,945,216 - 1,823,945,216
tudud 31 viuaa 2024 (9,806,072,431) - (9,806,072,431)
yuainawdug sav
tududi 31 viuaa 2024 5,359,723,128 219,195,574 5,578,918,702

*ZuguagNd J0ofuNSINwtunIu Twazmd1gd 2024 counjofulainiuesna ez fug yue1o7u.

niwdjucdizejusndipfioesldudud ifiofiugidu J8ugndud 31 diual 2023 JHgi:

Wanuasudiatd  Nadjaaciv)au* Q04
fiu fiu fiu

Gudiu:
dun 1 Jjnsy 2023 14,526,048,509 279,724,815 14,805,773,324
W uSuTud 736,230,719 1,001,983 737,232,702
tuduai 31 dgnsu 2023 15,262,279,228 280,726,798 15,543,006,026
a13suyuargzdu
3w 1 Jynsu 2023 (8,371,996,406) - (8,371,996,406)
8oL uT (1,546,726,735) _ (1,546,726,735)
tududi 31 ¥iuaa 2023 (9,918,723,141) - (9,918,723,141)
yuaInwWiug gavitudun
31 vivaa 2023 5,343,556,087 280,726,798 5,624,282,885

*ZuSuagNd J0ofunMFgncluPuiutasuzd 2023  wlunjo2ejfivlanuidiniulagayugiogiw

(oatgueznurwaziy.
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nzu1a19 91Sad 219 A1Nagnjo
NIURIUNINIVTY 2024

11. Sugus819

I (uar97WNIVGU29INSVIAIY

2024 2023

fiu fiv

1S 9009001 (1) 1,537,574,265 889,965,382
nencunISu (i) 18,037,136,148 17,424,294.849
8119 (iii) 2,256,171,648 1,630,436,355
21,830,882,061 19,944,696,586

() aflgaeua030l1 Usneuldngazuaouingndugiugl, 119ISN129u00 war Yshivtw.

(i) nenudnSudenoud neniudinSurNUliNduENNal wazFulinfivnzunwsusg Tl

Qo uJoi§Sun lutonSIRUANE Lciumln.

(iil) AIYMWADIVI29INLUINIWADUTY TSN, TUTULIN €z NUBuejd.

12. Judanaanyndn
cﬁ’uwﬂmngnﬁﬂﬁtmz‘cﬁc"ﬁjﬁ‘wﬁ:

n. dcarznrudswnz9)juan

2024 2023
fiu fiu
JANNLUIIVIU 7,380,675,839 10,160,581,056
tJandzdn 16,994,861,314 17,754,263,122
Wandmio 48,983,805,692 74,505,125,099
73,359,342,845 102,419,969,277

2. 3(a1z01VYLWA29)IESNV GV
2024 2023
fiu fiv
Ny 23,980,033,428 36,821,501,565
0a9 41,443,425,750 52,366,677,223
uIn 7,935,883,667 13,231,790,489
73,359,342,845 102,419,969,277
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(uarw7wNIVGU29INEVIaIY I

a. carznruiaszalrriia

nzu1a1y 91cSad 219 1Na6njo

2024
iy

NIURWPUNINIVTY 2024

2023
5111

wiwTu 3 cBou
4 11 6 (O9U
7 m 12 tQ9u

71N 12 (9w

26,283,642,180

7,314,153,055
17,951,884,845
21,809,662,765

38,682,514,288
27,497,762,194
14,934,461,220
21,305,231,575

73,359,342,845 102,419,969,277
7. darzniudsiwnz29)anan

2024 2023
fiu fiv
z%l;)m;mﬁu 23,094,913,116 32,585,554,643
Uriynéy 50,264,429,729 69,834,414,634
73,359,342,845 102,419,969,277

9. dtarznrudzswaz9jasruguiu
2024 2023
fiu fiu
weingiu 3,622,400,620 4,033,695,137
NN 69,736,942,225 98,386,274,140
73,359,342,845 102,419,969,277

13. (JuuananasyrIdiunIvGusy

2024 2023
fiu fiv

(Jueandniba (i)

M93F9znd1303IF0 (ii)

660,925,819,606
23,461,391,310

619,617,955,880
21,995,054,353

684,387,210,916

641,613,010,233

(i) (uelandnaio, zh"c‘iluswgwc‘j’u Yoaigzoedo 83080maenddis 4.50% (2023: 4.50%) GO Yool
niln 3 ¥ (2023: 3 0).

(ii) Uumsjaj‘imaummjmummu Umau.umuaau:m Qy suynsﬂiucusmuioa NSV 91
830 — LAAGY_ ‘Zu‘cayvn’mcaumjmjmvmmu RS UarmadSE0ILINSIALOILNIUSIN
$93. T 2023, UUNSjﬁj?mQumDﬂjmulﬂﬂﬂlJ 0N 1,931,874 101, Jugynuuiu 2Iuou
39,700,012,500 fiv fintsuuradufiugsjnzuiniy InaGSuNUsLyaInaIn NnsuInIucny sUU
210 (SNJWCANN 1035/nna J3SUH 21 Hiuoa 2023.
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nzu1a19 91Sad 219 A1Nagnjo
NIURIUNINIVTY 2024

14. vii§udu

I (uar97WNIVGU29INSVIAIY

2024

v

2023

fiu

noncdun1yane

£20838119, (JUIS (AT TUFUSUY (i)

12,186,483,256
11,090,654,723

11,540,938,421
8,040,164,782

23,277,137,979

19,581,103,203

g90836113, (JUs L IFUSUT F0Ud uEnnzwinw, RuRPuaIgMuaIguzlun, Gulvln way

A IRL OB EFTEN

(‘;.0 U J\
15. vldunrudvgacsa

2024 2023

iy iy

oiduarndueacsa aannaucEavidy 11,109,064,597 13,221,408,372
(n) N1iansras Uﬁ‘ﬁnmuaumca jﬁ:

2024 2023

iy iy

wIetueligd 2,357,228,394 1,925,932,500

Aughigd 8,751,836,203 11,295,475,872

11,109,064,597

13,221,408,372

nzcugcﬁ’u%mz‘ﬁjuﬁoéﬂiumméﬁwﬁ 2024 iy 3,380,880,032 Ay (2023: 3,682,699,194 fiv) Sjm0U

J2989100U0U (22 21w91u09n08.

16. HiIUIONSUIUYINUTD

2024 2023

fiv fiv

Wdui 1 Jynsy 500,000,062,500 460,300,050,000

Wudiuionzugy Dnesfive 13, 25(2)) - 39,700,012,500

udud 31 diuo 500,000,062,500 500,000,062,500

17. (JUH1S9901UATUJUNIY

HDmudisutmogegSudseiniuazusuniuwin ul

2024 2023

fiu fiv

tududi 1 dynsw / Judi 31 viuaa 2,130,187,655 2,130,187,655
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nzu1a1y 91cSad 219 1Na6njo
NIURWPUNINIVTY 2024

(ua1g91uNI1VGU29)N V1IN I
18. UsNaUIaVHVIIMNTITasSUNI0U

HudrnsugourndRnclfidufocnutiviivesisugaives) newinw a8l 10 Fndingo
Tugouzg3laIny Share Grant Scheme Twnweiing i loududnouzduesjnzuiniy.

2024 2023

fiy fiy

W3duK 1 Dynsu - -
aw*ﬂwéjﬂﬁutﬁumsuccmumﬂ’ﬂuéu 71,002,226 -
tudun 31 diuvon 71,002,226 -

19. argSuaancis waz a19Suvidradniy, gau

2024 2023

iy fiy

A9Sva9aniy

uSuneNtduMNINET

AuSunsnuINNEUINI

30,924,726,841
43,414,353,812

25,970,186,258
47,888,723,108

74,339,080,653

73,858,909,366

A1918909N(TY

1U1VOSNDLIININEN

2181U09NUYIINTASOCL

(2,612,311,427)
(29,823,146,608)

(3,470,052,346)
(29,901,484,819)

ma'imUnsncﬁmmmﬁﬁumu%’mmcéﬂ (495,001,134) (512,314,230)
(32,930,459,169) (33,883,851,395)
19$vnancds waz 19Sunid985iY, gav 41,408,621,484 39,975,057,971
20. 219SUAINIVJ (AT a1V18VIT Jad

2024 2023
fiy fiy

A1uSUaIIVIU (AT ar1uI18TiI
uSUnINIUIUPNMIUISUUTAND U 588,487,456 1,230,042,137
a1 Ldu oy 72,732,799 106,636,347
OV U UL 40,602,972 53,310,474
ma%umzﬁmjué’ug 325,617,586 365,826,914
1,027,440,813 1,755,815,872
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21.

I (uar97WNIVGU29INSVIAIY

2193192 INAINIVFY (AT A1UI18VI

A (44,221,712) (58,318,376)

UMY ANNNIWILTUNIUTEUTY (893,845,186) (390,007,979)

(938,066,898) (448,326,355)

FraSvarniruju (AT arauIgulI, avi 89,373,915 1,307,489,517
(Guedsw waz a1l34195u9299weiingan

2024 2023

fiy fiy

(0S990 €T (JUio 23,297,110,106 20,270,334,980

(gululin 3,248,074,183 5,569,876,071
aﬂaﬁﬂyéﬂﬁuﬁwmsuccmwﬁcﬁuéu 71,002,226 -
m‘ié'fmué’wijasjwzﬁmm 2,058,084,976 1,746,923,029
28,674,271,491 27,587,134,080

22. 21991981030V (A 188U
2024 2023
iy fiy

34

U MNIFUYY (1T VIQIENN
MW NUW

NUNUAUGEZIO21U (1)

5,295,966,676
1,152,203,264
1,398,767,030

3,860,762,819
1,346,487,585
1,106,978,098

ma'éaﬂUmTé'mU?unmé’gm 976,597,664 488,944,204
NMUNFISWOUNDLLZOON 404,824,064 349,408,990
AW HUW 432,250,000 315,580,000
QU UOISUENSUTI9INI 460,176,356 722,782,585
UUNAOUNTY (R 5'1’|§1J§lj 372,489,733 512,594,806
U PUNUNIWOEYIN (1R NJOSSINNIRLUE 118,513,600 276,052,821
MLV LR (FUSNTYUNEUEHISma 799,713,873 627,218,509
g]ﬂUf«'znaJs'n‘Zéé}ﬂa?umuﬁﬁmmé’ug 1,650,580,836 1,144,992.270

13,062,083,096 10,751,802,687

AUNUFINUEZIOFIU A0UNINITINWANENDNIUWILUSN 870,000,000 N (2023: 724,000,000

ny)
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23. (NuduuusviasiSumajean, Jan
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2024 2023
iy iy

2193278 ((NUINEHD)
Suusiiow (g057) (87,055,645) 405,848,926
CUIS KTwe (00) 11,479,247,867 8,010,227,282
a1c3au30d0i 11,392,192,222 8,416,076,208
RRRHRUE (12,938,919,715)  (26,776,255,809)
(1,546,727,493)  (18,360,179,601)

24. 2192999 1N9VNII

Simufinousousiemneuszduluyy @andl 67/awg A39ud 18 Inur 2019 ssnlnudznmy

sluzmtcmja“m 9180089 UNNR

A an

U]JJfJﬂJUjﬂU

Ta g]'123UCJOﬂClJUZﬂQuﬂﬂU]EUUQU%ﬂOQ’IO (e U]’IquEU]O

SuaBsdudgmzRntu UU 210 5800 20% (2023: 20%) 2o3Riettiylinditieygusmen.

2024 2023

vy b 111

(2107V)/Nta NnsugNsuwIL LY

(WU: 211U NUIILUINTIN

fn: WSVNITNSINSU

(1,024,470,900)
174,638,118,706
(178,747,561,793)

22,344,910,704
722,206,472,196
(726,340,427,038)

Nn1ta/(2108iv) n9UsIN9sU299y

(5,133,913,987) 18,210,955,862

210RVENU90U1INTLINULA
(2307w)/MNta Wl
faca/21a6iu (wd

(14,419,778,757)
(5,133,913,987) 18,210,955,862
(5,133,913,987) 3,791,177,105

91N9VAYIGNIWSAN19INIVBILS

- 758,235,421

Wy 2024, nzwamtdiendiugzdu 5,133,913,987 fiu B3zundnusatddindiivbunitaze;
NnEUInItd wdd 2025 m1 2029 (33Ge3nwiiPuam Smunongsuiiug way iinwsusaney
wougRouIoney. Td 2023, nzuinwlGunitafioNsueIiNsy Ay FoUINHULLAUNHYTe29]
NZUINIWIND 2022 COUATNFLR138UT U UzSUN 31 Huor 2023.
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25. A19N1U29JWIANTIVVINFI299

36

eI 9180 (s — Yrinn Laacsy (Huciee) was AU02I0UANNLN MzUn 13U
20U 100% Unnzd e dnaznungniuiuuiiEnoisuiiaaciiuni fuwinsouiingogs) téjg'lon‘lmsj
’%”EUUEJU&J’II‘IU]D\EU CjlltJmﬂUUUQU}"IﬂJmJ’ICEUUU”ﬂQUOOU (uUINUEEn (e Ljuw’mumm (U
Wndzdn couheIRiaziiuidsnoniu waz JSamnsnun 1.60% ;i 2.00% ] (2024: 1.60%
m1 2.00%), Woadimugznucy. Juuindmbo J8omnendioan 1.90% mm 5.75% 0T (2024
2.50% o1 6.75%) loudgmunifinoar war genuiu.  Gudninlo dnwodnwiisdnitaus
oadniufiged 1 @eu ifig 24 (Bow (2024: 1 (§3 36 @ev). (usj war Fuasinisnmnendde
4.00% (2024: 4.00%) &0 YneJtasuzad 48 m1 300 (Bev (2024: 72 ;1 300 (Gav).

U.,aummma9u‘tmomnwmgoumn30293 09083613, WD, war aftsuiingose), ww

ey awEy SrSurnd D& tu:

2024

iy

2023

iy

N=UINW 8ASIU (WS — LAAZY (211010 61
)
n. udandisnaia

dui 1 Jinsw

Sueindineussriuazndnd

210NUANNMIVEANY JUCTUOINIUL0

619,617,955,880

41,307,863,726

572,385,124,978

(109,883,393,443)

157,116,224,345

ududi 31 vivaa (Taszdvivae 13) 660,925,819,606 619,617,955,880
nencuio)y 9,778,082,068 9,243,342,492
A1921909ncds (Jassvivay 19) 29,823,146,608 29,901,484,819

2. 0IiA9)9IWINIDIUNJ2299

dui 1 Jinsw

21,995,054,353

49,890,841,520

lovtduniu . (39,700,012,500)
210NUAINNIVEANI JUTUNINIUEnn 1,466,336,957 11,804,225,333
tuduai 31 viva (Taszdvivae 13) 23,461,391,310 21,995,054,353
NIRRT swift Meou 893,845,186 390,007,979
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2024 2023
fiy fiv
nzulay 91S3d - (n
Nn. QUUINNSUIAIBIV
Suii 1 Jynsw 2,372,371,672 14,465,480,299

Sudln Suan/(nevsen) Wwarndd

(2107U)/Na PNNIVCINYFUTUNINIYN

8,100,028,450
(17,771,139)

(16,638,764,521)
4,545,655,894

wduai 31 divaa (Jaszvivradi 5) 10,454,628,983 2,372,371,672
2024 2023
iy fiy

91u28N1V (AL GIIMIVHIFI8

n. udan

dui 1 Jnsy

2,840,614,923

5,089,853,299

SuehnitéEu/(nev)azmotsd (18,225,459) (3,281,068,412)
210NUANNMIVEANIJUTUONYLnn 145,833,688 1,031,830,036
wSud 31 vivaa 2,968,223,152 2,840,614,923

Uﬁﬁsjéjnsncﬁs
AuOeNdY

Guivindu waz Guaoajviia
Suti 1 Dnsw

GULANHLHTN L WM

2,301,264,872
2,505,482,074

10,642,722,896
1,100,000,000

1,735,857,338
3,470,052,346

9,849,249,528
1,096,000,000

GUANEUIESURIRsauluazmoy (2,364,975,893) (302,526,632)
tudua 31 vivan 9,377,747,003 10,642,722,896
Ug’uﬁsﬁuosmﬁu 11,689,574 9,929,866
AusSunencdy 376,763,584 424,636,120

(Juchiau war BuYLlnuniauzIuSLe) 299
weingw

UNLUGIINIY

(DoUzRiugdiau Juhulounzuini (i)

(i) UecLugouBudelnandiynanISugdamu.

12,815,632,638
1,498,877,743
35,910,000

15,207,843,835
652,130,804
31,590,000
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26. S100VEVY (AT WAIALINUY

38

(n) wrazgndivivdnviansuju

e lddutumusnbadufivdudidmon  1,000,000,000,000 fiu Sjmuficoe  dtou
nzunwyazin sxdvluyy sxduanil 39/awg, 335ud 17 Nazfin 2023, nzuinw oS0
(s mcUumsfmcwummovajmu 21091 499,999,937,500 Nu. MzUINI () SUU 210
H90 SuzmadunInnIuE s tassoatuniudufiv,

Tucdeounuwid 2020. TW3SVA 31 Hiudl 2020, nnz1gNwerydnzegndnfividrdsclul
Q91
(2) 59Juducd

Wduh 31 Fuor 2024, mgnzundauouugfioFnd fdtaduRn e IVENILGY,
caSjumjmucjmnuewn.un m'avavmvwmuugyamas? AN, AUoVCFUINAVTVSNEID

(Y Y

I]ﬂ]J“lT%EE.UlJJJOjEjU%UEZS?U’IEEﬂQﬂﬂ"I EEL"I?.JjU.Uﬂ"lUI]QﬂJ ?UOUU] 31 vl 2024.

2024 2023

iy fiu

Suddnciuiiug St s 3,773,058,230 8,681,597,267
SHHD LRSI EDTS 8,357,740,000 5,335,000,000

12,130,798,230 14,016,597,267

(a) wrasygndivm1)GIusINsY

axfuomeuty SUU @10 Mudytissusilol «ay Jeomsunjogedunuwougie tay In
wlnudjucdgnfioomy cay Ofuavciydie B906udnwtnow, pruidisiniwdno
owiicnnaiy azmanoiouwindivensuinuiivnouiiu war NongsUtaa3I NIy
Puiingogelfiuemey mufinoe Eimuwnmioaduln waz i8nnnende. éuzﬁo’a’j
EUj"lﬁS’lO'%lzﬁ"ljﬂa"ng‘ljjé]SﬂJ’lQlJ‘ZlJ UU 210 1dusnazaBiugionaitludunidzinndue).
@ﬁﬁmmcé’eu"ﬁu:’m ignazemnsudgu3ld §jmﬂ.umuﬁﬂaﬂuesjéﬁnﬁnﬂug'laaaﬂeﬂneu. (ti3gn
000, (Rwindigougioneuiingose) snfnorwefnmisdicandty cay 910S8unzihus
(UKL KE.
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Hnudnnsujy

J121

tnazdu
tnazsn

J121

tnazdu

91999lay

tinonasuiiug

, . o v o o @ .
21‘!”1"0\(” I NV 91(SJU 91D "il’li]ﬂoﬁgﬂja
NIWAILIIWNINIVTY 2024

C eI 9USU 10 NN

. Ouduyasionunzvin welhaziionsuiniy (nd 36 299

NTUIENY) YU 92,
+ (JueIn
o (UINOU
«  yasNUUMINYTn

«  WIANIWAEND N 1Az NIWIAINIWSL)

: olouil 01, Ssuandl 008, Tzuly (nIsvdudoy, Jwlwuts,

tJog tgra01)7, UsneuyDI0I) e, VY Q%92.

: 777263844-900

. https://www.rhbgroup.com/laos

. +856(21) 455 116

. +856(21) 455 112

:500,000,062,500 Hiv

;2121 dnvcle sloudl 06, oy gwyds, Uiy Sncls, cdeg &

la0nzu9), YeaguyoIa i, YU 219.

. +856(21) 221 010
. +856(21) 221 013
. 2121 Glan sbouR 08, NEoliy Gtan, U Fxiycln, (deg tgnal,

UZO9UYDJ0JI U, IUU Q710.

. +856(21) 773 050

0330 wswddticSdnudd (210) 990 dnjo

31U 4, 9101091381, 910 WRANA 33, Nroluwga, Azl 7003

UZO9UYDIDJI I, FUU 10

lnazdu : +856 (21) 222 718-9
Tnazs : +856 (21) 222 723
(Sutg : www.pwe.com/la
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NU nzuIa1y 9SS

numummwsaﬂtsgluLUUmeuamwm°11m°1Utjua”ouwmwU‘meUU“cmmmuam.uzmjwuma“auvusj
mUccn‘E2zn:luUUccuU‘CmL:|::na:naﬁnUtJ’mmu‘fmuamu‘fua“r;wnjmccmnmjnu (r WwgzwwonIsU
& geoliugzoyy noUlieINIugeIanaItiiyuniy, 99310 war neinsn, wisEnaudsceseIn
weingw €y MuiodiuNuwINgounjoges.

nuyarfineAsy 'acfiiue110Um1Jg‘tuuummummuammcacaa waz Joirdiddintueigyy, suds
UJJE]D"I.UCUUUUWOWUIVIUC’IJJ]’IOME?JJEE?‘_’]TUUuEU]O.U"IL'QE%U?U?SUE?ON’]UUUQODSNU €AY 2oy)
(e, oaswuunjwmwnm 14,000 fuludionuyarfin, sugatid drlunazfio vty 8 Uzunn
299U INTU9IZ .

nuyarfineaSTWuNUIInmIstiuniuiuiudjsuludsmnauiagy.  yarfingnge nucly
30y 5 yazRodnd: nunznwgudy, RunzLnRILE), NUYREFn Shariah, HUYazRngAy
R NUUzAUw.

gamsga 299NnUnEUIa1l 91Sad

nunzwinw oudsl  hlesoiyonzsin 3 ¥ Wwnuanddswcio, “Arovlntudeuiiuzg”
(“TWP24”), (33090 disdndiunuesjgnnsgin FIT22 fiuiuuiegjwonidl wuas ulsiutauy
acdesIniugsngiutio.

“ﬁ’lOUﬁ‘l‘EUZTJS.UﬁlJ 24" (“TWP24"), ’@“2ﬂEJﬂE)“lUZnJjmOj28jn.UU]EJ“ﬂOU]’Q“EUﬂJtJU’ICCUmUUEaﬂ’IlJ
monao gonagINuaI2dlolzgjwontsr  “@13001ufionlitdduIIFuynay”, Tmacuu‘tg}aw
deRynnzgn - Wunzwnwdnesyyndy, gulanwdnuzdunitloldangnés, cavcdiuny
(Gl dauuzwau.

gonRn “foslitdiie uiiu 20247 29jwomsm“ﬁmcmmnjonmuuum’usjnsnmm anaaualuduiu
zmj war Fuddussmete csmawaozsjanmwmm%mj 'amaumjmacwumnnmjccwucwe
G utsusBtindgdune), Hussmuwaougiuntwdiney, tef war nudie, ey uni
O’IijEUlJijESjcﬁmEUUIJ.Ui{mzﬂﬂmEJjgll.

Ny nsuIary 9uSad

nu nzwIn oS uuvmonmumwwmwu‘h ‘msumjoum.uagjjmwijuumjcmumumjmj
unu O3nudunuduitngiisn Subuiides) Uragy war Snuadunidnseorfludio
zumzyueﬂaju. HUO3E0Snoruniinindinnzoitiasnoduifugudndunuddnunmdy W
wINdueIgIv.

eednnzdy war NMudInwdwniugudiglioesnucluidgzns HNatnunIy 12903NU (R
GIUNIVISNIVCUUSS UL,

nacfingnzsnunzuniuciuttluyicsite Wiy 7 nunzazingonsgin (SBGs):



, . o v o o @ .
21‘!”1"0\(” I NV 91(SJU 91D "%’Iﬂﬂoﬁgﬂja
NIWAILIIWNINIVTY 2024

a F2

o MUUANIU NTUINIUSIFUANEIRI1LI0E)

o as o

« NMUJANIY NZVINIWIRVNALNAN (R UJQSJ%’IZHSU’IG’IU

9

'
o v La)

o MUUANIU NTUINIWSIFUNLANOILIUS

9 7

o MUJANIU NZVINIWCUUSONKEQIL

« Mmudaniu Gwdznutw

¢ MUdIn Ayarfiomgdemnn
nzu1a19 91Sad 219 A1Nanjo

neUIn 9USIU 10 PNNGNID (“‘rUIn’) CUUNSWINWNRETN, (33F130] 1z InnzuuTy
UU Q10.

newIWElUdRAF0 A0 WunasindgRumdsinn 100%  Auluineenly 81z urdn
Urguivzin Uzgiduaio (‘sdd 210”) wwhifinounzuinmwyazio (sziuvluyg) szdu@nd 39/
g, 3DUN 17 NN 2023 «Ar ANAzUIULLINZUINLN] SUY 7D, céj‘cﬁéu‘fuswmnﬁﬂjﬁj
220U (NN 04/0n0a 95UA 24 Jua 2021 (SSDCEmU?USSQU"lOé’Ijgj (ANA 10/0Ma J33UN 30 (UK
2014) w2z Wwnzujudmenn @ni 3071/200 3350 19 E3m3 2024 (29NLU (ANGA 0628/9ND
90U 19 (w1 2021).

23NPWAVALeINZLINIY  CUUIAIZINIVNIAIWUNIUNZLINW €T NUIANIUNIEUNINIoge9 U
UY Q2.

NzUducgey 100% oo nzwiniy ousSsy wWsn. Wwhsudiuol 2024, UtGInuuniy
Fnnzuuiiv. Auinnzujuesmzuniudlawoy 500,000,062,500 Hu, Jeneuld 49,751,250 Sy,
waRz§ulyual 10,050 Hu.

Jeqdu nizwiniu 9u8s0 210 1iindngo densud 2 121091

N=U101 218U 10 MNNGNID 128N Wcsle DatHISINWIUSUA 19 F9m1 2016. S1iingau H3¢)
NeolugwIydy, suouil 06, U Sncle, (e Slannzus), UzasUYDIOIITU.

N2 9UEIU 210 MTNGNIo 12109l0n DatHIAINSTUSUA 26 Lgneu 2018. FnuciyE)
neolu Glan, sboudi 08, J gxligedn, (deg tgul, urasuyojoIyiu.
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znuma’lu‘CQn:ngﬂjmjemJﬂcwsmcuum'e]umuww‘lmsuccuumummumaxm cajaauummuoumu
ccau‘lnsucwucjumnumm e INUz0 10T WINNzrRIWSY PNYNAY, SN0 €L sjmmcmj
£199%; muUsachﬂ‘cauvau QUM 1R RUraWEnYNay, 3ehin 1y SINIWINAINITY
10889l83n2zur €ar NIUUINTUNILGIAZ2IGNDL; o’|cuU‘Zmuamuccanujucjummjuuczno
zoU9INIVIAINILUNIWTaUY; (ay nmU;]n”1unmznvmmwswgm‘msumuskumm NTUIIY
€N YU 210 («BOL”), e1uf1inguime waz s121luuzasugolojjiv.

Nzl SInwdiidiusucuugSuasdnnsdudunzuIny, MUY €y JUNINILIINIUNEA
289y, (330.U5:

«  JUSTULIN NZKFAIVSY

«  Jugiudan J=in

«  Jugcuelan Omilo

.« HudSudin edrozdy

« MUlBUIU ay CandJUunInUzann

. Suds uwsznstﬂ‘cg

d-

[z} Q o Q

. Sude nudud
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V3 GJUUINNS U8

JUENZIFILIU 29 NN 2ASIT 10 IITNGNIO EE.UﬂJEE]Sj].UCfﬂJﬂ’lUUQlﬂ‘l]JCj]J?]ﬂZﬂ.UU“?]OmZUﬂU
29 wIngouWinudzdnon UmsjcouzmjtUznvmmucwsmsm‘iuuu Kz a189100199, W0
JR0IUNIETUL93NIU A (K ‘tmsuuutmumjm‘mu

. J8nwsendunsn

- U3 ATM nzgen 24 80lu3

« U0 ATM

«  Turdwenduiydiourartiou i uniuBnnunanns

«  anendugdugenuty Hua1e, 10100 § vt
dusjudandzéda

JugguLnUzdngs) neuin 918U 10 %ﬂﬁﬂtﬁﬂja :lwméoa‘Eu”wmwzﬁsnTsuc‘j’u tiiorinotdcii]
nwiSevluiiuesyhmce), Jdnesgw denwdnsesignyw § surnsunsuiiod es .03
0139, FymugzngwiioldicnniucuesjnsufionIu s Uj‘msuwuu Tmemczmn

- aungylugiutingsgnivdigiuniy ﬁoyﬁuﬁuéc‘j’umnw’{m

. O30 ATM nizgen 24 3019

- w8 Uo ATM

. WEusnmnendiutitindignte Sotadivaedy, war Sunendudiualdou

«  inRenduBdugrnuty Hua1e, 10IEnLdn § vt
Jusjudanidnaiio

OOUSOC]"]OSDCUUZHUU“]F]:’]OOC{'% (N ZmjEQSﬂ?Sj\EQUuCDQ’]ZﬂUﬂﬂmﬂﬁJ U'JJZC‘_’]IJ&J"m.Uﬂ"]lJO 28j RHB

)
[23

Sytudiosdtunastiuii DuzSafitiy. sun@udnuduesihg waz WEulnundi:
. ZuBomoendiutiiGinela
. tavstinducn 1 deuduty
. tandrditausdy car Wuze198390 36 (Geu
- Dnwdewdudincuudonzluio
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STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS I RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD
Financial Report 2024

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY INRESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors (the BOD) of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (the Bank) are responsible for
ensuring that the financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Bank as at 31 December 2024 and of its financial performance, statement of changes in equity
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting policies of the Bank and the
relevant accounting regulations and notifications of Bank of the Lao People’s Democratic Republic
(BOL) described in Note 2 to the financial statements. In preparing these financial statements, the BOD
is required to:

1). adopt appropriate accounting policies which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgments
and estimates and then apply them consistently;

i1). comply in accordance with accounting policies of the Bank and the relevant accounting regulations
and notifications of BOL described in Note 2 to the financial statements and ensure that these
have been appropriately disclosed, explained and quantified in the financial statements;

iil). maintain adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls;

iv). prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to assume that
the Bank will continue operations for the foreseeable future; and

v). effectively control and direct the Bank and be involved in all material decisions affecting the
operations and performance of the Bank, and ascertain that such decisions have been properly
reflected in the financial statements.

The BOD confirms that the Bank has complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024.

STATEMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We do hereby state that the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2024 and its financial performance, statement
of changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended and have been properly drawn up
in accordance with accounting policies of the Bank and the relevant accounting regulations and
notifications of BOL described in Note 2 to the financial statements.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Q‘@ (g
& tevaaay
v Q
295U 290
%ﬂﬁoaqja

L")
RHB Bank Lao

Choong Seang Heng
Chief Executive Officer
Date: 28 March 2025
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RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD I INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Financial Report 2024

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD.

70

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (the Bank) for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
accounting regulations and notifications of Bank of the Lao People’s Democratic Republic and
accounting policies as described in Note 2 to the financial statements.

What we have audited

The Bank’s financial statements comprise:

* the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;
* the statement of income for the year then ended;

» the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
» the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

* the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of accounting and restriction on distribution and use

We draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting policies described in Note 2
to the financial statements. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another

purpose.

Our report is intended solely for the Bank and should not be distributed to or used by parties other
than the Bank. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT I RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD
Financial Report 2024

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
relevant accounting regulations and notifications of Bank of Lao People’s Democratic Republic and
accounting policies described in Note 2 to the financial statements, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank
to cease to continue as a going concern.
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

For PricewaterhouseCoopers (Lao) Sole Company Limited

Sole Company 4
Limite 55‘9

By Sinsiri Thangsombat
Partner

Vientiane Capital, Lao P.D.R.
Date: 28 March 2025
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THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT I RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD
Financial Report 2024

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
2024 2023

Notes LAK LAK
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central bank 4 830,042,715,509 794,997,751,116
Deposits and placement with other banks 5 50,902,497,654 46,816,685,987
Loans and advances to customers 7 383,845,395,587 407,750,658,663
Right-of-use assets 8 3,654,468,411 4,739,533,040
Property and equipment 9 14,744,789,084 17,140,497,574
Intangible assets 10 5,578,918,702 5,624,282,885
Other assets 11 21,830,882,061 19,944,696,586
TOTAL ASSETS 1,310,599,667,008 1,297,014,105,851
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 12 73,359,342,845 102,419,969,277
Amount due to parent company 13 684,387,210,916 641,613,010,233
Other liabilities 14 23,277,137,979 19,581,103,203
Income tax payable 24 - 758,235,421
Lease liabilities 15 11,109,064,597 13,221,408,372
TOTAL LIABILITIES 792,132,756,337 777,593,726,506
EQUITY
Paid-up capital 16 500,000,062,500 500,000,062,500
Legal reserve 17 2,130,187,655 2,130,187,655
Capital contribution by Holding Company 18 71,002,226 -
Retained earnings 16,265,658,290 17,290,129,190
TOTAL EQUITY 518,466,910,671 519,420,379,345
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,310,599,667,008 1,297,014,105,851

The accompanying notes on pages 75 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent auditor’s report — pages 67 to 70.
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RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD I THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
2024 2023
Notes LAK LAK
Interest income 19 74,339,080,653 73,858,909,366
Interest expense 19 (32,930,459,169) (33,883,851,395)
NET INTEREST INCOME 19 41,408,621,484 39,975,057,971

Net provision writeback for credit losses on
loans and advances 23 1,546,727,493 18,360,179,601

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER
LOANS AND ADVANCES IMPAIRMENT

WRITEBACK 42,955,348,977 58,335,237,572
Fee and commission income 20 1,027,440,813 1,755,815,872
Fee and commission expense 20 (938,066,898) (448,326,355)
NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 20 89,373,915 1,307,489,517
Property and equipment written off (53,324,472) (148,959,364)
Foreign exchange gain, net 5,697,807,338 8,976,867,121
Payroll and other staff costs 21 (28,674,271,491) (27,587,134,080)
General and administrative expenses 22 (13,062,083,096) (10,751,802,687)
Depreciation and amortisation charges 8,9,10 (7,977,322,071) (7,786,787,375)
TOTAL EXPENSES (44,069,193,792) (37,297,816,385)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (1,024,470,900) 22,344,910,704
Income tax expense 24 - (758,235,421)
NET (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (1,024,470,900) 21,586,675,283

The accompanying notes on pages 75 to 99 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent auditor’s report — pages 67 to 70.
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RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD
Financial Report 2024

I THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023
Notes LAK LAK
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/Profit before tax (1,024,470,900) 22,344,910,704
Adjustments for:
Provision (writeback)/made for credit losses on loans and advances 23 11,392,192,222 8,416,076,208
Depreciation of property and equipment 9 5,180,962,936 5,074,047,491
Amortisation of intangible ssets 10 1,711,294,506 1,546,726,735
Amortisation of right-of-use assets 8 1,085,064,629 1,166,013,149
Property and equipment written off 53,324,472 148,959,364
Foreign exchange gain, net 36,234,402,250 (8,451,395,046)
Interest income 19 (74,339,080,653) (73,858,909,366)
Interest expense 19 32,930,459,169 33,883,851,395
Shared-based payment expenses 21 71,002,226 -
Operating profit/(loss) before changes in operating assets and
liabilities 13,295,150,857 (9,729,719,366)
Increase in statutory deposits with BOL 4 (36,888,420,239) (52,855,184,405)
Decrease in deposits and placements with other banks 18,542,000,000 111,412,000,000
Decrease/(increase) in loans and advances to customers 7 12,488,997,151 (135,229,829,150)
Increase in other assets (1,273,344,176) (154,032,643)
(Decrease)/increase in deposits from customers 12 (29,060,626,432) 26,800,945,230
Increase in deposits from parent company - 47,232,830,902
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 3,824,025,064 (726,400,170)
Cash used in operations (19,072,217,775) (13,249,389,602)
Interest received 73,726,239,354 71,919,622,325
Interest paid (32,284,914,334) (33,337,166,631)
Income tax paid (758,235,421) -
Net cash generated from operating activities 21,610,871,824 25,333,066,092
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment (2,838,578,918) (2,415,513,042)
Purchases of intangible fixed assets (1,665,930,323) (737,232,702)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,504,509,241) (3,152,745,744)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments for lease liabilities (2,885,878,898) (2,658,070,734)
Net cash used in financing activities (2,885,878,898) (2,658,070,734)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 14,220,483,685 19,522,249,614
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 6 171,659,227,282 128,474,064,931
Effect of foreign exchange difference 6,563,872,136 23,662,912,737
Cash and cash equivalents, ending 6 192,443,583,103 171,659,227,282
Non-cash financing activity relating to capital injection 13, 16, 25(b) - 39,700,012,500

The accompanying notes on pages 74 to 98 form an integral part

Independent auditor’s report — pages 67 to 69.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (the Bank) is a commercial bank incorporated and registered in Lao
People’s Democratic Republic (Lao P.D.R.).

The Bank is a limited company with 100% foreign investment under the laws of Lao P.D.R. The
Bank operates its banking business under the Law on Commercial Bank No. 39/NA, dated 17 July
2023 and under the regulations of Bank of Lao P.D.R (BOL). The Bank had received its revised
Banking License No.04/BOL dated 24 March 2021 (replaced Banking License No. 10/BOL dated 30
April 2014) and Enterprise Registration Certificate No.3071/ERA dated 19 August 2024 (replaced
Enterprise Registration Certificate No.0628/ERA dated 19 April 2021).

The principal activities of the Bank are to provide comprehensive banking and related financial
services in Lao P.D.R.

The Bank is wholly owned by RHB Bank Berhad. As of December 2023, no additional capital
injections were made. The Bank’s registered capital amounted to LAK500,000,062,500, comprising
49,751,250 issued shares at an issue price of LAK 10,050 per share.

The registered office of the Bank is at Unit No.1, House No. 008, Kaysone Phomvihane Road,
Phonxay Village, Lao P.D.R.

The Bank’s BOD has reviewed these financial statements and approved for their issuance on 27
March 2025.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements are set out
below:

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the relevant accounting regulations
and notifications of BOL and accounting policies of the Bank. The accounting principles
applied may differ from generally accepted accounting principles adopted in other countries and
jurisdictions. The accompanying financial statements are not intended to present the financial
position and financial performance in accordance with other jurisdictions. Consequently, these
financial statements are addressed only to those who are informed about the Bank’s accounting
policies and the relevant accounting regulations and notifications of BOL.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
affecting the amounts reported as assets and liabilities, the disclosure of any contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses
in the reported periods. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
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2.2 Measurement and presentation currency

The Bank maintains its records in Lao Kip (LAK) and presents its financial statements in LAK.

2.3 Foreign currency transactions and translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than LAK at year end are
translated into LAK at exchange rates ruling on the statement of the financial report date.
Income and expenses arising in foreign currencies during the period are converted into LAK
at rates ruling on the transaction dates. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of such monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the
statement of income when earned and incurred.

2.4 Financial instruments

The Bank’s significant financial assets and liabilities include cash and balances with central
bank, deposits and placement with other banks, loans and advances, deposits from customers,
amount due to parent company, other assets, other liabilities and lease liabilities. The accounting
policies for the recognition and measurement of these items are disclosed in the respective
accounting policies.

2.5 Recognition of interest income and expense

Interest income recognition

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis and is recognised at the nominal interest rates
stipulated in the loan contracts with clients except in relation to non-performing accounts.

As per BOL guideline no. 334/AD, dated 11 March 2019, where an account becomes non-
performing, the recording of interest is suspended and interest income already recognised will
be reversed. Interest income will be recognised if accrued interest on non-performing loans
will be subsequently collected. Customer accounts are deemed to be non-performing where
repayments are in arrears for more than three months or 89 days.

Interest expense

Interest expense on deposits from customers and banks are recognised on an accrual basis.

2.6 Recognition of fee and commission income

Fee and commission income from the various activities of the Bank is accrued using the
following bases:

* Loan arrangement fees and commissions on services and facilities extended to customers are
recognised on the occurrence of such transactions.

*  Commitment fees and guarantees on services and facilities extended to customers are
recognised as income over the period in which the services and facilities are extended.

* Service charges and processing fees are recognised when the service is provided.
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2.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and short-term deposits maturing
within thirty (30) days.

2.8 Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are originated by the Bank providing money to a customer for purposes
other than short-term profit taking. They are stated at the outstanding principal balances less
an impairment allowance for doubtful loans and advances, to reflect the estimated recoverable
amount. Loans and advances except bank overdrafts are shown exclusive of accrued interest
receivable.

2.9 Provision for credit losses

In accordance with the regulation 512/BOL dated 29 June 2018, the Bank is required to classify
loans and create a provision for impairment losses. Accordingly, loans are classified into
performing loans or non-performing loans based on their payment arrears status and other
qualitative factors. Loans classified as normal or pass (group A) and watch list or special
mention (group B) are considered as performing loans. Loans classified as substandard (group
C), doubtful (group D) and loss (group E) are considered as non-performing loans. The method
of provision calculation mentions that banks can take into consideration the collateral value
with a certain prescribed percentage indicated in the regulation to be deducted from the loan
outstanding before applying the provision rates.

Provisions are categorised as general and specific based on the loan classification. Below is the
summary of provision rates applicable for each loan classification as at the balance sheet date:

Group Category Number of days Provision rate
past due
Performing (general)
A Normal or pass Within 29 days 0.5%
B Watch list or special 30 to 89 days 3%
mention

Non-Performing (Specific)

C Substandard 90 to 179 days 20%
D Doubtful 180 to 359 days 50%
E Loss From 360 days 100%

2.10 Intangible assets

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring to use the specific software. Computer software licences are subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. These costs are amortised over the
estimated useful life of 5 years.
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2.11 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to statement of income during the reporting period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write down
the cost of each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at the following annual

rates:
Category Depreciation rate
Buildings and improvements 5% or over the period of the lease
Office equipment 20%
Computer equipment 20% - 25%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Leasehold improvements are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. There are no material adjustments arising from the review that would
require disclosure in the financial statements.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are included in statement of income. At the end of the reporting period, the Bank assesses
whether there is any indication of impairment. Where an indication of impairment exists, the
carrying amount of the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.

2.12 Statutory reserves

Under the requirement of the Law on Commercial Bank No. 39/NA, dated 17 July 2023,
commercial banks are required to appropriate net profit to regulatory reserve fund, business
expansion fund, and other funds.

In accordance with (Revised) Enterprise Law No. 33/NA, dated 29 December 2022 Capital
Adequacy, the regulatory reserve fund shall be provided annually at 10% from profit after tax
after deducting its accumulated losses. When this regulatory reserve fund accumulates half of
registered capital, the company may suspend the deduction, unless otherwise provided by Law
of Limited Company.
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2.13 Leases for lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date which
the leased asset is available for use by the Bank. Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments).

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If the rate cannot
be really determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Bank, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security, and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability. Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful
life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in income statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

2.14 Employee benefit
a) Short-term employee benefits

Wages, salaries paid, annual leave and sick leave and other leave, bonuses and non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of
the Bank.

b) Share-based compensation

The fair value of the shares offered is recognised as an expense in the income statement over
the vesting periods of the grant with a corresponding increase to capital contribution by holding
company within equity.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the shares granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of shares granted that
are expected to vest. At each reporting date, the Bank will review and revise the estimates of
the number of shares granted and shares that are expected to vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimate, if any, will be recognised in the income statement, with corresponding
adjustment to capital contribution by holding company in equity.

c¢) Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are paid to retired employees of the Bank by the National Social
Security Fund Office which belongs to the Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare. The Bank is
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required to contribute to these post-employment benefits by paying social insurance premium
to the Social Insurance Agency at the rate of 6% of employee’s basic salary on a monthly basis
or of ceiling LAK4,500,000 in case employee’s basic salary higher than ceiling rate. The Bank
has no further significant obligation concerning post-employment benefits for the employees
other than this.

d) Termination benefits

In accordance with Article 90 of the Amended Labour Law No. 43/NA, dated 24 December
2013, the Bank has the obligation to pay allowance for employees who are terminated by
dismissal in the following cases:

* Compensation for the cancellation of employment contracts shall be 10% of the last salary
or wage multiplied by the total number of months worked;

* For unjustified termination of employment contracts in accordance with the Article 88 of the
Amended Labour law, compensation will be 15% of the last salary or wage multiplied by
the total number of months worked; and

* (Cancellation of employment contracts for reasons not specified in the Amended Labour
Law, the Bank must implement compensation in accordance with the agreement between
the Bank and the employee.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

2.16 Tax

Provision is made for taxation on the current year’s profits, based on the Tax Law governing
taxation within Lao P.D.R. In accordance with the Law on Income Tax No.067/NA, dated 18
June 2019, the Bank is subject to 20% (2023: 20%) on total taxable profit, and profit taxes shall
be paid every 20th of July of the year and every 20th January of the following year.

Tax losses incurred in any tax year can be carried forward to offset against profit realised in the
following five tax years from the year loss was incurred subject to certification by the National
Audit Authority or an independent audit company and with the acknowledgement of the tax
authorities. Upon expiration of such period, any remaining loss not so deducted may no longer
be deducted from profits.

2.17 Related parties

Enterprises or individuals that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control,
or are under controlled by or are under common control with the Bank including holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries are related parties of the Bank. Associates
and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Bank that
gives them significant influence over the Bank key management personnel including directors
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and officers of the Bank and close members of the family of these individuals and companies
associated with these individuals also constitute related parties.

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of
the relationship, and not merely the legal form.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The guidelines and policies adopted by the Bank to manage the risks that arise in the conduct of its
business activities are as follows:

3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential loss of revenue and principal in the form of specific provisions as a
result of defaults by the borrowers or counterparties through its lending and investing activities.
The primary exposure to credit risk arises through its loans and advances. The amount of credit
exposure in this regard is represented by the carrying amounts of the assets on the statement of
financial position. The lending activities are guided by the Bank’s credit policy to ensure that
the overall objectives in the area of lending are achieved i.e. that the loans portfolio is strong
and healthy and credit risks are well diversified. The credit policy documents are the credit
control and recovery manual, credit operations manual, and credit policy manual. Credit risk
is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business. Management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk.

3.2 Market risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse movement in the level of market prices or
rates, the two key components being foreign currency exchange risk and interest rate risk.

(1) Foreign currency exchange risk

Foreign currency exchange risk refers to the risk of adverse exchange rate movements on
foreign currency exchange positions taken from time to time. The Bank maintains a policy
of not exposing itself to large foreign exchange positions. Any foreign currency exchange
open positions are monitored against the operating requirements, predetermined position
limits and stop-loss limits.

(1) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the volatility in net interest income as a result of changes in the
levels of interest rate and shifts in the composition of the assets and liabilities. Interest rate
risk is managed through close monitoring of returns on investment, market pricing and cost
of funds. The potential reduction in net interest income from an unfavourable interest rate
movement is monitored against the risk tolerance limits set.
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3.3 Liquidity risk

I THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Liquidity risk relates to the ability to maintain sufficient liquid assets to meet its financial

commitments and obligations when they fall due at a reasonable cost. The management of the
Bank closely monitors all inflows and outflows and maturity gaps. Movements in loans and

customers’ deposits are monitored and liquidity requirements adjusted to ensure sufficient liquid
assets to meet its financial commitments and obligations as and when they fall due.

4. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK

2024
LAK

2023
LAK

Cash on hand (Note 4.1)

Balances with central bank other than long term fixed
deposit and mandatory reserve deposits (Note 4.2)

22,791,658,130

140,317,427,319

21,982,714,794

142,969,826,501

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 6)

163,109,085,449

164,952,541,295

Long term fixed deposit and mandatory reserve
deposits with central bank (Note 4.3)

666,933,630,060

630,045,209,821

830,042,715,509 794,997,751,116

4.1 Cash on hand
2024 2023
LAK LAK
Cash on hand — LAK 7,795,081,500 6,925,877,500
Cash on hand — foreign currencies 14,996,576,630 15,056,837,294
22,791,658,130 21,982,714,794

4.2 Balances with central bank other than long term fixed deposit and mandatory

reserve deposits

2024 2023
LAK LAK
Demand deposit 140,317,427,319  142,969,826,501

4.3 Long term fixed deposit and mandatory reserve deposits with central bank

2024 2023

LAK LAK

Compulsory reserve (i) 5,919,449,587 10,338,893,074
Statutory deposits (ii) 88,360,867 88,360,867
Long term fixed deposit (iii) 660,925,819,606 619,617,955,880
666,933,630,060 630,045,209,821
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(1) These are deposits maintained in BOL as per BOL regulations. The balance is adjusted and
calculated at 8% (2023: 8%) of LAK and 11% (2023: 10%) of other foreign currencies,
such as Thailand Baht (THB) and United States Dollar (USD), on the average balance of
bank and customer deposits, such as savings accounts. current accounts and term deposits
as of the year. These deposits do not earn interest.

(i1)) The Bank maintains an additional statutory capital deposit with BOL. This deposit amount
is considered as a guarantee for the operations. Per regulation No.01/BOL dated 28 January
2010, commercial banks and foreign branch which have permanent office, no longer needs
to appropriate a reserve of 25% of the registered capital and the investment capital. This
deposit does not earn interest.

(111) Long term fixed deposits maintained with BOL earn interest at 6.50% (2023: 6.50%) per

annum with a term of 3 (2023: 3) years.

5. DEPOSITS AND PLACEMENT WITH OTHER BANKS

Deposits and placement with other banks are analysed as follows:

2024 2023
LAK LAK
Deposits included in cash and cash equivalents 29.334,497,654 6,706,685,987
Placement with other banks 21,568,000,000 40,110,000,000
50,902,497,654 46,816,685,987
a) Analysis by institution
2024 2023
LAK LAK
Balances with domestic banks
Banque Pour Le Commerce Exterieur Lao —
Vientiane Branch 16,406,050,345 1,365,601,783
16,406,050,345 1,365,601,783
Balances with overseas banks
RHB Bank Berhad — Thailand (Note 25) 10,454,628,983 2,372,371,672
JP Morgan - the United States of America 2,473,818,326 2,968,712,532
12,928,447,309 5,341,084,204
Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) 29,334,497,654 6,706,685,987
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2024
LAK

I THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT

2023
LAK

Placement with domestic banks

Acleda Bank Lao Ltd.

21,568,000,000

10,110,000,000

Military Commercial Joint Stock Bank — Lao Branch - 10,000,000,000
VietinBank Lao Limited - 20,000,000,000
21,568,000,000  40,110,000,000

b) Analysis by currency
2024 2023
LAK LAK

Domestic banks

LAK 11,015,665,711 30,487,853,899

USD 26,075,140,448 10,444,327,590

THB 883,244,186 543,420,294
37,974,050,345  41,475,601,783

Overseas banks

uUSD 2,473,818,326 2,968,712,532

THB (Note 25) 10,454,628,983 2,372,371,672
12,928,447,309 5,341,084,204
50,902,497,654 46,816,685,987

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2024 2023
LAK LAK
Cash and balances with central bank (Note 4) 163,109,085,449 164,952,541,295
Deposits with other banks (Note 5) 29,334,497,654 6,706,685,987
192,443,583,103 171,659,227,282

7. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
2024 2023
LAK LAK
Loans and advances to customers 385,774,266,456 420,012,764,628
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a) Analysis by currency
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2024 2023
LAK LAK
LAK 378,661,883,505 398,754,439,118
USD 7,112,382,951 21,258,325,510
385,774,266,456  420,012,764,628
b) Analysis by status of loan

2024 2023
LAK LAK
Performing loans 385,774,266,456  395,166,145,427
Non-performing loans - 24,846,619,201
385,774,266,456  420,012,764,628

¢) Analysis by classification of BOL
2024 2023
LAK LAK

Performing loans
Normal Loans
Specific Mention Loans

Non-performing loans

385,774,266,456

393,828,308,009
1,337,837,418

Substandard Loans - 8,274,322,772
Doubtful Loans - 15,948,661,956
Loss Loans - 623,634,473
385,774,266,456  420,012,764,628

d) Analysis by relationship
2024 2023
LAK LAK
Customers 385,774,266,456  420,012,764,628
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e) Analysis by economic sector
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2024 2023

LAK LAK

Service 273,974,360,129  248,783,352,245
Commercial 36,942,083,864  50,795,714,869
Agriculture 22,134,157,878 24,177,985,143
Industrial 14,611,686,499  23,115,846,527
Construction 4,857,852,529 11,636,106,371
Transport and telecommunication 1,527,158,975 17,257,219,094
Handicraft 858,992,148 893,876,106
Others 30,867,974,434  43,352,664,273
385,774,266,456  420,012,764,628

f) Analysis by resident status

2024 2023

LAK LAK

Resident 384,477,694,058 418,706,102,460
Non-resident 1,296,572,398 1,306,662,168
385,774,266,456  420,012,764,628

g) Analysis by security

2024 2023

LAK LAK

Secured 385,774,266,456  420,012,764,628
2024 2023

LAK LAK

General provision

Beginning balance

2,009,276,034

1,469,620,246

Provision charged during the year 18,217,816,854 18,458,480,067
Reversal of provision during the year (18,304,872,499) (18,052,631,141)
Foreign exchange difference 6,650,480 133,806,862
At 31 December 1,928,870,869 2,009,276,034
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Specific provision
10,252,829,931
26,121,432,933
(14,642,185,066)
(21,749,501,021)

Beginning balance
Provision charged during the year
Reversal of provision during the year

Utilisation for bad debt written off
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Financial Report 2024

3,570,220,303
25,715,684,811

(17,705,457,529)

(1,504,388,859)

Foreign exchange difference 17,423,223 176,771,205
At 31 December - 10,252,829,931
The breakdown of as at 31 December 2024 is as follows:
2024 2023
LAK LAK

Performing loans (general)
Normal 1,928.870,869

Special Mention -
Non- performing Loans (specific)

Sub Standard =

1,969,140,911
40,135,123

1,654,864,477

Doubtful - 7,974,330,981
Loss - 623,634,473
At 31 December 1,928,870,869 12,262,105,965
8. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

2024 2023
LAK LAK

Cost
At 1 January 14,893,802,859 14,907,232,837

Adjustment (1) -
At 31 December 14,893,802,859

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January (10,154,269,819)
(1,085,064,629)

(11,239,334,448)

Charge for the year
At 31 December

(13,429,978)
14,893,802,859

(8,988,256,670)
(1,166,013,149)

(10,154,269,819)

Net book value at 31 December 3,654,468,411

4,739,533,040

The right-of-use assets recognised pertains to the lease of head office in Phonxay and branch

offices in Sithan Neau and Dongdok.

(1) The adjustment is related to the change of currency payments in the rental contract of

Dongdok Branch from USD to LAK.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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Movement of the balance of intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

Computer In progress* Total
software
LAK LAK LAK
Cost
At 1 January 2024 15,262,279,228 280,726,798 15,543,006,026
Additions 1,665,930,323 - 1,665,930,323
Reclassification 61,531,224 (61,531,224) -
Write off (1,823,945,216) - (1,823,945,216)
As at 31 December 2024 15,165,795,559 219,195,574  15,384,991,133
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2024 (9,918,723,141) - (9,918,723,141)
Charge for the year (1,711,294,506) - (1,711,294,506)
Write off 1,823,945,216 - 1,823,945,216
As at 31 December 2024 (9,806,072,431) - (9,806,072,431)
Net book value at 31 December 2024 5,359,723,128 219,195,574 5,578,918,702

*Intangible assets in progress during 2024 are related to Information Technology projects to enhance

the system.

Movement of the balance of intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

Computer In progress* Total
software
LAK LAK LAK
Cost
At 1 January 2023 14,526,048,509 279,724,815 14,805,773,324
Additions 736,230,719 1,001,983 737,232,702
As at 31 December 2023 15,262,279,228 280,726,798  15,543,006,026
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2023 (8,371,996,406) - (8,371,996,406)
Charge for the year (1,546,726,735) - (1,546,726,735)
As at 31 December 2023 (9,918,723,141) - (9,918,723,141)
Net book value at 31 December 2023 5,343,556,087 280,726,798 5,624,282,885

*Intangible assets in progress during 2023 are related to Information Technology projects to enhance

the system.



THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT I RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD
Financial Report 2024

11. OTHER ASSETS
2024 2023
LAK LAK
Prepaid expenses (i) 1,537,574,265 889,965,382
Accrued interest receivable (i) 18,037,136,148 17,424,294,849
Others (iii) 2,256,171,648 1,630,436,355

21,830,882,061 19,944,696,586

(1) Prepaid expenses include advance payments for lease line, software maintenance, and insurance.

(i1)) Accrued interest receivable includes interest receivable from loans to customers and deposits
with other banks. This also includes penalty receivable for the overdue loans.

(i11)) These include advance payment and bank supplies such as cheque books, passbooks and
signature verification slips.

12. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS
Deposits from customers are analysed as follows:

a) Analysis by types of deposit account

2024
LAK

2023
LAK

Current deposits
Saving deposits

Term deposits

7,380,675,839
16,994,861,314
48,983,805,692

10,160,581,056
17,754,263,122
74,505,125,099

73,359,342,845  102,419,969,277
b) Analysis by currency

2024 2023

LAK LAK

LAK 23,980,033,428 36,821,501,565
USD 41,443,425,750 52,366,677,223
THB 7,935,883,667 13,231,790,489
73,359,342,845  102,419,969,277
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¢) Analysis by maturity

2024
LAK

I THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT

2023
LAK

Within 3 months
4 to 6 months
7 to 12 months

Over 12 months

26,283,642,180

7,314,153,055
17,951,884,845
21,809,662,765

38,682,514,288
27,497,762,194
14,934,461,220
21,305,231,575

73,359,342,845  102,419,969,277
d) Analysis by type of customer

2024 2023
LAK LAK
Individual 23,094,913,116 32,585,554,643
Non-individual 50,264,429,729 69,834,414,634
73,359,342,845  102,419,969,277

e) Analysis by type of relationship
2024 2023
LAK LAK
Staff 3,622,400,620 4,033,695,137
Customers 69,736,942,225 98,386,274,140
73,359,342,845  102,419,969,277

13. DEPOSITS FROM OTHER BANKS

2024 2023
LAK LAK

94

Fixed deposits (i)

Intercompany payables (i)

660,925,819,606
23,461,391,310

619,617,955,880
21,995,054,353

684,387,210,916

641,613,010,233

(1) Fixed deposits denominated in USD carry interest rates of 4.50% (2023: 4.50%) per annum with
a term of 3 years (2023: 3 years).

(i1) Intercompany payables include purchases of property and equipment initially made by RHB
Bank Berhad - Malaysia during the start-up phase of the Bank. The intercompany payable is
repayable on demand. In 2023, intercompany payables of USD 1,931,874 which is equivalent to
LAK 39,700,012,500 has been converted to share capital as approved by the BOL under letter
with reference 1035/BSD dated 21 December 2023.
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14. OTHER LIABILITIES

2024
LAK
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2023
LAK

12,186,483,256
11,090,654,723

Accrued interest payable

Accruals, provisions and other liabilities (1)

11,540,938,421
8,040,164,782

23,277,137,979

19,581,103,203

Accruals, provisions, and other liabilities include banker’s cheques, accruals for utilities, bonus, and

other liabilities to suppliers.

15. LEASE LIABILITIES

2024 2023

LAK LAK

Lease liabilities from property 11,109,064,597 13,221,408,372

Scheduled repayments of lease liabilities are as follows:

2024 2023

LAK LAK

Within one year 2,357,228,394 1,925,932,500
Beyond one year 8,751,836,203 11,295,475,872
11,109,064,597 13,221,408,372

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was LAK 3,380,880,032 (2023: LAK 3,682,699,194)

which includes the principal and interest payments.

16. PAID-UP CAPITAL

2024 2023
LAK LAK
At 1 January 500,000,062,500  460,300,050,000
Additional paid-up capital (Notes 13, 25(b)) - 39,700,012,500
At 31 December 500,000,062,500 500,000,062,500
17. LEGAL RESERVE
There was no movement in legal reserve fund during the year.
2024 2023
LAK LAK
At 1 January/At 31 December 2,130,187,655 2,130,187,655
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18. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION BY HOLDING COMPANY
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Capital contribution by holding company represents the cost of the ordinary shares of RHB Bank in

respect of Share Grant Scheme awarded to eligible employees of the Bank.

2024 2023

LAK LAK

At 1 January - -

Share-based payment expenses 71,002,226 -

At 31 December 71,002,226 -

19. NET INTEREST INCOME

The movement in legal reserve fund during the year is presented below:

2024 2023

LAK LAK

Interest income
Interest income from customers

Interest income from banks

30,924,726,841
43,414,353,812

25,970,186,258
47,888,723,108

74,339,080,653

73,858,909,366

Interest expense
Interest expense from customers

Interest expense from parent company

(2,612,311,427)
(29,823,146,608)

(3,470,052,346)
(29,901,484,819)

Interest expense from lease liability (495,001,134) (512,314,230)
(32,930,459,169) (33,883,851,395)
Net interest income 41,408,621,484 39,975,057,971
20. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2024 2023
LAK LAK

Fee and commission income
Loan processing fees 588,487,456 1,230,042,137
Penalty fees 72,732,799 106,636,347
Commitment fees 40,602,972 53,310,474
Other fees 325,617,586 365,826,914
1,027,440,813 1,755,815,872

Fee and commission expense
Commission fees (44,221,712) (58,318,376)
Wire transfer fees (893,845,186) (390,007,979)
(938,066,898) (448,326,355)
Net fee and commission income 89,373,915 1,307,489,517
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2024 2023
LAK LAK
Salaries and wages 23,297,110,106 20,270,334,980

Bonus 3,248,074,183 5,569,876,071
Share-based expenses 71,002,226 -
Other staff costs 2,058,084,976 1,746,923,029
28,674,271,491 27,587,134,080

22. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2024 2023
LAK LAK

Repair and maintenance
Insurance expense

Professional fees (i)

5,295,966,676
1,152,203,264
1,398,767,030

3,860,762,819
1,346,487,585
1,106,978,098

Communication expense 976,597,664 488,944,204
Utilities 404,824,064 349,408,990
Security fees 432,250,000 315,580,000
Office stationery expense 460,176,356 722,782,585
Meal and travelling 372,489,733 512,594,806
Marketing and public relations 118,513,600 276,052,821
Board of directors’ fees and allowances 799,713,873 627,218,509
Other administrative expenses 1,650,580,836 1,144,992,270

13,062,083,096 10,751,802,687

(1) Professional fee includes audit fee of LAK 870,000,000 (2023: LAK 724,000,000).

23. PROVISION WRITEBACK FOR CREDIT LOSSES

ON LOANS AND

ADVANCES
2024 2023
LAK LAK
Charge/(Writeback)
General provision (net) (87,055,645) 405,848,926
Specific provision (net) 11,479,247,867 8,010,227,282
Net charge 11,392,192,222 8,416,076,208
Bad debt recovered (12,938,919,715)  (26,776,255,809)

(1,546,727,493) (18,360,179,601)
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24. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In accordance with the Income Tax Law No. 67/NA, dated 18 June 2019 stipulated by the President
of the National Assembly, applicable profit tax that should be applied to both domestic and foreign
enterprises that hold legal entities is 20% (2023: 20%) of total taxable profit income.

2024 2023

LAK LAK
(Loss)/Profit before tax for the year (1,024,470,900) 22,344,910,704
Non-deductible expenses 174,638,118,706  722,206,472,196
Non-taxable income (178,747,561,793) (726,340,427,038)
Taxable (loss)/profit for the year (5,133,913,987) 18,210,955,862
Loss carried forward from previous year - (14,419,778,757)
Taxable (loss)/profit for the year (5,133,913,987) 18,210,955,862
(Loss)/Profit for the year (5,133,913,987) 3,791,177,105
Income tax expense at applicable tax rate - 758,235,421

In 2024, the Bank has loss carried forward amounting to LAK 5,133,913,987 which can be carried
forward to offset against taxable profit to be realised for the remaining years from 2025 to 2029
subject to certification by the National Audit Authority with the acknowledgement from the tax
authorities. In 2023, the Bank had taxable profit where loss carried forward from 2022 has been
applied. The loss carried forward has already been fully utilised as of 31 December 2023.

25. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
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The Bank is 100% owned by RHB Bank Berhad — Malaysia, which is the Bank’s ultimate controlling
party.

A few number of banking transactions were entered into with related parties in the normal course of
business, which were mostly deposits.

Deposits from key management personnel comprise savings and fixed deposits, all of which are
unsecured. Savings deposits are repayable on demand and carry interest rates ranging from 1.60% to
2.00% (2023: 1.60% to 2.00%) per annum, depending on the currency. Fixed deposits carry interest
rates ranging from 1.90% to 5.75% (2023: 2.50% to 6.75%) per annum, depending on the term and
currency. Fixed deposits from key management personnel have terms ranging from 1 to 24 months
(2023: 1 to 36 months). Loans and advances carry interest rate of 4.00% (2023: 4.00%) per annum
with terms ranging from 48 to 300 months (2023: 72 to 300 months).

The volume of related-party transactions, outstanding balances, at the year-end, and related expense
and income for the year are as follows:
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2024
LAK
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2023
LAK

RHB Bank Berhad - Malaysia (Holding Bank)
(a) Fixed deposits

At 1 January
Deposits withdrawn during the year

Foreign exchange loss

619,617,955,880

41,307,863,726

572,385,124,978

(109,883,393,443)

157,116,224,345

As at 31 December (Note 13)

660,925,819,606

619,617,955,880

Interest payable
Interest expense (Note 19)

(b) Intercompany payable

At 1 January
Transfer to paid-up capital

Foreign exchange loss

9,778,082,068
29,823,146,608

21,995,054,353

1,466,336,957

9,243,342,492
29,901,484,819

49,890,841,520
(39,700,012,500)
11,804,225,333

As at 31 December (Note 13)

23,461,391,310

21,995,054,353

Monthly swift payment

RHB Bank Thailand

(a) Current deposit

At 1 January
Deposits placed/(withdrawn) during the year

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain

893,845,186

2,372,371,672
8,100,028,450
(17,771,139)

390,007,979

14,465,480,299
(16,638,764,521)
4,545,655,894

At 31 December (Note 5)

10,454,628,983

2,372,371,672
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2024
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2023
LAK

Director and key management personnel

(a) Deposits from customers

At 1 January 2,840,614,923 5,089,853,299
Deposits withdrawn during the year (18,225,459) (3,281,068,412)
Foreign exchange loss 145,833,688 1,031,830,036
As at 31 December 2,968,223,152 2,840,614,923

Interest payable

Interest expense

(b) Loans and advances to customers

(1)

2,301,264,872
2,505,482,074

1,735,857,338
3,470,052,346

At 1 January 10,642,722,896 9,849,249,528
Loans disbursed during the year 1,100,000,000 1,096,000,000
Loan repaid during the year (2,364,975,893) (302,526,632)
As at 31 December 9,377,747,003 10,642,722,896
Interest receivable 11,689,574 9,929,866
Interest income 376,763,584 424,636,120

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Management fees

Social security contribution (i)

12,815,632,638
1,498,877,743
35,910,000

15,207,843,835
652,130,804
31,590,000

Social security contributions by the Bank include the post-employment benefit.

26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Capital commitment

In order to meet the minimum capital requirement of LAK 1,000,000,000,000 as per revised
Law on Commercial Bank No. 39/NA, dated 17 July 2023, RHB Bank Berhad needs to inject
additional capital of LAK 499,999,937,500. The timing of the capital injection is yet to be
announced by BOL.
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(b) Credit facilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Bank had the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-financial
position, financial instruments that commits it to extend credit to customers. Unutilized overdrafts

are those credit limit provided to customers but have not yet been withdrawn as at 31 December
2024.

2024 2023
LAK LAK
Unutilized overdraft 3,773,058,230 8,681,597,267
Undisbursed loans 8,357,740,000 5,335,000,000

12,130,798,230  14,016,597,267

(c) Taxation contingencies

The taxation system in the Lao PDR is relatively new and is characterized by numerous taxes
and frequently changing legislation, which is often unclear, Contradictory, and subject to
interpretation. Often, differing interpretations exist among numerous taxation authorities and
jurisdictions. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, who are
enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. These facts may create tax
risks in Lao PDR substantially more significant than in other countries. Management believes
that it has adequately provided for tax liabilities based on its interpretation of tax legislation.
However, the relevant authorities may have differing interpretations and the effects could be
significant.
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General Information

Issuer

Type of Business

Headquarters

Registration Number
Homepage
Telephone

Facsimile

Registered Capital

Branches

Telephone

Facsimile

Branches

Telephone

References

Auditor

I GENERAL INFORMATION

: RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd
: The Company conducts banking business and is member No. 36 of The

Bank of Lao PDR.
*  Deposit
* Lending

» Foreign currency transaction

* Service between customers and other banking service

: Unit No.01, House No. 008, Kaysone Phomvihane Road, Phonxay Village,

Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR.

: 777263844-900 Tax Identity Number
: https://www.rhbgroup.com/laos

1+ 856(21) 455 116

1+ 856(21) 455 112

: LAK 500,000,062,500

: Sithan Neua Branch, Unit No.06, Souphanouvong Road, Sithan Neua

Village, Sikhottabong District, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR

. +856(21) 221 010
. +856(21) 221 013

: Dongdok Branch, Unit No.08, Dongdok Road, Saphangmeuk Village,

Xaythany District, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR

-+ 856(21) 773 050

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Lao) Sole Company Limited.

4th Floor, Allianz Building, 33 Lane Xang Avenue, P.O. Box 7003

Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR
Telephone: +856 (21) 222 718-9
Facsimile: +856 (21) 222 723

www.pwc.com/la
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RHB Banking Group

RHB Banking Group is a multinational regional financial services provider that is committed to
delivering complete solutions to customers through differentiated segment offerings and an ecosystem
that supports simple, fast and seamless customer experiences, underpinned by a cohesive and inspired
workforce, and relationships built with stakeholders.

Ranked among the top banks in Malaysia and with a significant presence in ASEAN, RHB has strong
market leadership in Malaysia across targeted products and segments. With more than 14,000 employees
Group-wide, RHB’s presence spans 8 countries in the ASEAN region.

RHB Banking Group is a fully integrated financial services group in Malaysia. The Group’s core
businesses are structured into five business pillars, namely Group Community Banking, Group
Wholesale Banking, Group Shariah Business, Group International Business and Group Insurance.

RHB Banking Corporate Strategy

RHB Banking Group has introduced our new 3-Year Corporate Strategy, “Together We Progress 2024”
(“TWP24”), which aims to build on the foundations of our previous FIT22 strategy and supercharge
the next phase of growth.

TWP24 will drive the Group’s ambition to be a leader in Service Excellence, in line with our new Purpose
Statement of ‘Making Progress Happen for Everyone’, centered around three strategic objectives — Be
Everyone’s Primary Bank, Priorities Customer Experience, and Drive Quality Growth.

Our TWP24 strategy highlights a strong customer-first culture and continues to enhance new customer
centric ideation through seven key focus areas. The focus areas are designed to promote a more robust
performance, enabled by enhanced digital, IT and analytics capabilities, and position the Group as a
key player in the sustainability space.

RHB Banking Group

The RHB Banking Group has a proud history, having won many prestigious awards over the years
since its establishment. It is Malaysia’s fourth largest financial services group and enjoys a wide
presence across the ASEAN region. The Group has aspirations to emerge as one of the top three
financial services groups in the ASEAN region.

The Group’s entire range of financial products and services are made available to its customers through
its branches as well as its online banking platform.

Our core businesses are streamlined into seven Strategic Business Groups (SBGs):

*  Group Retail Banking

* Group Business & Transaction Banking
*  Group Wholesale Banking

* Group Shariah Business

* Group Insurance

* Group International Business
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RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd

RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (the Bank) is a commercial bank incorporated and registered in Lao
People’s Democratic Republic (Lao P.D.R.).

The Bank is a limited company by 100% foreign investment under the laws of Lao P.D.R. The Bank
operates its banking business under the Law on Commercial Bank (Revised) No. 39/NA, dated 17
July 2024 and under the regulations of Bank of Lao P.D.R (BOL). The Bank had received its revised
Banking License No.04/BOL dated 24 March 2021 (Replace Banking License No. 10/BOL dated 30
April 2014) and Enterprise Registration Certificate No.3071/ERA dated 19 August 2024, (Replace
Enterprise Registration Certificate No.0628/ERA dated 19 April 2021).

The principal activities of the Bank are to provide comprehensive banking and related financial services
in Lao P.D.R.

The Bank is wholly owned by RHB Bank Berhad. As of December 2023, no additional capital injections
were made. The Bank’s registered capital amounted to LAK500,000,062,500, comprising 49,751,250
issued shares at an issue price of LAK10,050 per share.

RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd have 2 branches as follows:

Sithan Neua Branch was established on 19th August, 2016. The office is located at Unit No. 06,
Souphanouvong Road, Sithan Neua Village, Sikhottabong District, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR.

Dongdok branch was established on 26th January, 2018. The office is located at Unit No. 08, Dongdok
Road, Saphangmuek Village, Xaythany District, Vientiane Capital, Lao PDR.
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Products and Services

The Bank is established to conduct banking activities, which include mobilizing and receiving short,
medium and long term deposit funds from various organizations and individuals; lending on a short,
medium and long term basis to various organizations and individuals based on the nature and repayment
ability of the borrowers; conducting foreign currency transactions; providing transaction services
between customers; and other banking services as approved by the Bank of Lao PDR (“BOL”), through
the Bank’s Head Office and a branch in Vientiane Capital city.

The Bank offers a full range of retail and commercial banking products and services, including:
*  Current Account
* Savings Account
* Fixed Deposit
* Junior Saving Account
* Remittance and Foreign Exchange
* Housing Loan
*  Overdraft
* Term Loan

* Revolving Credit

Current Account

Our RHB Current Account is a powerful cash management tool as it can save you trips to the bank to
pay those bills and expenses. Manage your finances and enjoy these benefits:

*  Cheque book facility

e 24-hour ATM facility

*  Free ATM Card

*  Monthly statement for easy monitoring

* Choice of account in LAK, USD or THB
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Savings Account

Our RHB Savings Account paves the way to save for your dream home, your car, your child’s education
or even a computer. Grow your family’s finances and enjoy these benefits:

* Manage your account easily with a Savings Passbook

*  24-hour ATM facility

*  Free ATM Card

* Earn attractive interest rates — calculated daily, credited monthly

* Choice of account in LAK, USD or THB

Fixed Deposit

Our RHB Fixed Deposit offers with attractive interest rates and choice of tenure and is an effective
investment tool. Build your finances and enjoy these benefits:

* Earn attractive interest rates

* Tenure from 1 month onwards
* Short and long-term placements
* Auto renewal

* Choice of account in LAK, USD, or THB
Junior Saving Account

Our RHB Junior Savings Account is tailored for children and young savers, usually with parental or
guardian supervision, to help build good saving habits. Encourage savings and enjoy of these benefits:

¢ Earn attractive interest rates
e 24-hour ATM facility

* Choice of account in LAK, USD, or THB

Remittance and Foreign Exchange

Our RHB Remittance can help you move your money within Lao PDR and around the world efficiently
and securely. Transfer funds with ease and enjoy these benefits:

*  Choice of major currencies
*  Competitive fees and charges

RHB Money Exchange Service allows you to buy and sell currencies such as LAK/USD/THB at the
best possible rates. Exchange your money with ease and enjoy these benefits:

¢ No fees

*  Competitive exchange rates
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Housing Loan

RHB Housing Loan, with flexible options, is the key to owning your dream house. Get the home of
your dreams and enjoy these benefits:

* Financing up to 70% of the property value
* Loan tenure up to 20 years
* Attractive interest rates

Overdraft

RHB Overdraft facility is designed to meet your financing needs. Expand your business and working
capital, or build your business with us and enjoy these benefits:

*  Meet short term financing gap that may arise from the business operating cycle
* Attractive interest rates
Term Loan

RHB Term Loan, with many values added features and flexible options, enables you to start a new
business, expand your current business or provides working capital. Build your business with us and
enjoy these benefits:

* Flexible repayment period of up to 10 years

e Attractive interest rates

Revolving Credit

RHB Revolving Credit is a short-term credit service designed to provide cash flow in a timely manner to
make up for periodic or seasonal fluctuations of your business. Suitable for businesses with fluctuating
or seasonal incomes. Manage your business with us and enjoy these benefits:

* Meet short term financing gap that may arise from the business operating cycle

e Attractive interest rates
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Sustainability Vision: Nurturing Future Generations

RHB'’s sustainability journey began in 2018 with a purpose to building a brighter future for generations
to come. Our Group Sustainability Framework guides us in integrating environmental, social, and
governance (ESG) principles into everything we do. It’s a living document, continuously evolving to
reflect stakeholder expectations and the evolving needs of our communities.

RHB Bank Laos annually conducts the “RHB Touch Heart” initiative, this year emphasizing “Small
Acts Big Impact”. “RHB Touch Heart” Initiated in 2016, it is a platform for employee volunteerism to
community.

On October 5, 2024, the Bank undertook a community outreach project at Pak Ton Primary School in
Sangthong district. This involved refurbishing the school building with a fresh coat of paint, replacing
broken fans, and providing new desks, chairs, and educational materials to the students. The total value
of this contribution amounted to 38,413,500 kip. The funds for this initiative are generously contributed
by the employees of RHB Bank Lao and RHB Group. Concurrently, a tree-planting initiative was
undertaken within the school grounds to enhance the school’s green spaces.

RHB Bank Lao actively promotes environmental, social, and governance (ESG) principles within its
operations and communities. Through workshops, discussions, and seminars, we equip our management
and staff with the knowledge and tools to contribute to a more sustainable future. We also cultivate a

paperless culture and encourage the use of digital documents, minimizing our environmental footprint.
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RHB Bank Lao Annual Dinner 2024: RHBIAN’S CHRISTMAS NIGHT

The RHB Bank Lao Annual Dinner 2024 celebrating another successful year of RHB Bank. This
festive annual dinner is to appreciate staff for their hard-working, their contribution, recognized the
accomplishments of our dedicated team and foster the strong camaraderie that defines our organization.

The evening was filled with joyful celebration, captivating Christmas theme red, white and green.
Featuring engaging activities such as a fashion show, best dress awards, lucky draws, a lively gift
exchange, and musical performances by our talented staft.

(LT~ B2 111
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Economic overview:

In 2024, Laos finds itself at a crossroads, navigating both challenges and opportunities in its economic
journey. While the country faces issues such as the depreciation of the Lao kip (LAK), high inflation, a
labour shortage, reliance on foreign direct investment (FDI), and high public debt, there are also several
positive developments that highlight the resilience of the economy.

The depreciation of the Lao kip in 2024 has been a noticeable trend, but it also presents opportunities
for Laos to adjust to global economic dynamics. A weaker currency can make Lao exports more
competitive in international markets, potentially boosting export growth in key sectors such as mining,
agriculture, and hydropower. Agricultural exports like rice, rubber, and coffee, along with minerals such
as copper and gold, can become more competitively priced on global markets, improving the country’s
trade balance. This can also benefit Laos as an increasingly affordable destination for international
tourists. As the global economy recovers from the pandemic, this could provide a much-needed boost
to the country’s tourism sector, which is rich in cultural and natural attractions.

Inflation stood at the range 0f 21.30% in 2024, driven by factors such as rising global fuel prices, currency
depreciation, and food supply chain disruptions. While inflation poses short-term challenges, the Lao
government is actively working to stabilize prices and protect the purchasing power of consumers. The
Bank of the Lao PDR has implemented monetary tightening measures, such as increasing interest rates,
to curb inflation and stabilize the currency. By adjusting the money supply, the government is working
to bring inflation down to more manageable levels.

Although public debt remains as a concern, but the government is taking measures to manage debt
responsibly while ensuring that borrowing is directed toward productive investments. By focusing on
infrastructure development, economic diversification, and revenue generation, Laos is seeking to use
its debt as a means to enhance its long-term growth prospects. Amidst the concern the public debts
are being used to fund high-return infrastructure projects, such as railway and energy projects, which
will help stimulate the economy in the long run. The China-Laos Railway, for example, is expected to
provide a substantial return on investment by boosting trade and tourism, thereby increasing government
revenue.

The path forward will require careful balancing of economic growth with sustainability, improved
human capital development, and a commitment to reducing vulnerabilities to external shocks and
climate change. With the right policies and investments, Laos has the potential to continue its economic
transformation, although its long-term success will depend on navigating this complex challenge.
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Board of Directors and Organization Structure
The Bank’s Committees
Board of Directors

As of 31 December 2024, the Board of Directors of RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL")
consisted of five members as follows:

No. Member Position

1 Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Independent, Non-Executive Chainman

2 Mr. Lim Cheng Teck Independent, Non-Executive Deputy Chainman
3 Ms. Wendy Ting Wei Ling Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director

4 Mr. Choong Seang Heng Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer

5 Mr. Danny Quah Boon Leng Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
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Profile of the Board of Directors

CHIN YOONG KHEONG

Independent Non-Executive
Chairman

Malaysian
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Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong (“Mr. Chin”) was appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Chairman of RHB Bank
Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL”) on 22 July 2019. He is
the Chairman of Board Nominating & Remuneration
(Governance) Committee, a member of Board Audit
Committee and Board Risk Committee.

Mr. Chin was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of RHB Investment Bank on 1 August 2016.
Subsequently, on 30 September 2016, he was appointed as
the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director. He also
serves as the Chairman of RHB Investment Bank’s Board
Risk Committee.

Mr. Chin holds a Bachelor of Arts with Honours in
Economics from the University of Leeds and is a Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. He is also a member of the Malaysian Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and Malaysian Institute of
Accountants. Mr. Chin has retired as a partner of KPMG,
one of the leading accounting firms on 31 December 2013,
after having served the firm for more than 34 years in
the United Kingdom, Vietnam and Malaysia. Mr. Chin’s
vast experience covers business solutions in areas such
as strategy, human resources, performance improvement
to the public and infrastructure sector, consumer and
industrial markets, and financial services industry. He was
responsible for establishing the KPMG practice in Vietnam
and subsequently headed KPMG'’s consulting practice for
more than 7 years.

Mr. Chin’s other directorships includes RHB Asset
Management Sdn Bhd, RHB Islamic International Asset
Management Berhad, RHB Bank (Cambodia) Plc, RHB
Securities (Cambodia) Plc and Ayer Holdings Berhad, a
company listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Lim Cheng Teck (“Mr. Lim”) was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of RHB Bank Lao
Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL") on 23 February 2024 and
thereafter, he was appointed as Deputy Chairman of RHB
Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL”) on 11 August 2024. He
is the Chairman of the Board Audit Committee, a member
of Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) and
Board Risk Committee.

Mr. Lim is also an Independent Non-Executive Director
of RHB Bank Berhad, the Chairman of Board Credit
Committee and a member of Board Risk Committee.

He holds a Master of Business Administration from Brunel

University, United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Arts from

LIM CHENG TECK the National University of Singapore.

Mr. Lim was the Regional Chief Executive Officer for
Inde‘pendent Non-Executive Deputy ASEAN at Standard Chartered Bank. He first joined
Chairman Standard Chartered Bank in 1988 and has held various

roles within the bank’s Corporate and Institutional Banking
Division before being appointed as the Chief Operating
Officer for Standard Chartered Bank (China) Ltd in 2005.
In 2006, he was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of Standard Chartered Bank (Singapore)
Ltd. He returned to China in 2009 to take up the role of Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice
Chairman of Standard Chartered Bank (China) Ltd. He has served on several Standard Chartered
Bank subsidiary boards notably as the Chairman of Standard Chartered Bank (Mauritius) Ltd,
Standard Chartered Bank (Thailand) Ltd, Standard Chartered Bank (Singapore) Ltd, the Deputy
Chairman of Standard Chartered Bank (Malaysia) Ltd and the President Commissioner of PT Bank
Permata, Indonesia. He has also served as a Non-Executive Director of Standard Chartered Bank
(Taiwan) Ltd.

Singapore

He has previously served as a Director on the Boards of Clifford Capital Pte Ltd and Singapore
International Chamber of Commerce, a Governor of Singapore International Foundation and
a Council Member of the Institute of Banking and Finance Singapore and Singapore National
Employers Federation.

Additionally, he was the Chairman of Overseas Financial Service Commission, China Chamber
of Commerce, the Vice Chairman of the Association of Banks Singapore and a Member of the
Monetary Authority of Singapore’s Financial Centre Development Committee. Having served in the
banking arena for over 28 years, Mr. Lim retired from Standard Chartered Bank in April 2016 and
continued as a senior advisor on a non-executive role till April 2017.

Further, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Pontiac Land Group from March 2017 to May 2018
and he completed his 12-year term with the Advisory Board of Sim Kee Boon Institute of Financial
Economics, Singapore Management University in 2021. Currently, he sits on the Boards of Minterest
Holdings Pte Ltd, Bright Vision Community Hospital, Singapore and Sing Health Funds. He is also
the Chairman of the Board Committee, Sing Health Funds — Sing Health Community Hospitals.
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Ms. Wendy Ting Wei Ling

Non-Independent,
Non-Executive Director

Malaysian
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Ms. Wendy Ting Wei Ling (“Ms. Wendy”) was appointed as
a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of RHB Bank
Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL") on 23 September 2022.
She is also the Chairman of the Board Risk Committee,
a Member of the Board Nominating & Remuneration
(Governance) and Board Audit Committee.

Ms. Wendy was appointed as Managing Director, Group
International Business & Corporate Banking on 16 May
2022. In addition to her existing role in managing the Group
Corporate Banking portfolio, she will now also oversee and
drive the Group’s international business and operations,
which includes Singapore, Cambodia, Thailand, Laos, and
Brunei.

Ms. Wendy has over 19 years of industry experience in
corporate lending, leverage buyouts, syndication as well as
capital market-related activities.

Ms. Wendy presently manages the 3rd largest loan assets
amongst the domestic Banks under the Conventional
portfolio apart from maintaining market share as the 2nd
largestIslamic/Syariah compliantassets. Her responsibilities
also include overseeing and originating corporate lending
activities from the Group’s overseas units within the ASEAN
Region (ex-Japan). Aside from growing assets, she is also
committed to look at building meaningful relationships
with the Corporates (predominantly public listed entities)
such that the relationship is mutually beneficial to both the
financial institution as well as clients.

As part of the Banking Group’s efforts to provide a holistic
banking experience to our valued clients, she brings with
her a profound understanding of corporate cultures as well
as legislations across various sectors/industries as well
as regions to drive cross-border collaborations within the
Group’s network.

Prior to joining RHB, she was the Vice President, Client
Coverage, and thereafter Vice President, Corporate
Banking Division for Maybank Berhad.

Ms. Wendy graduated from the National University of
Malaysia with a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree and a Certified Credit Professional from The
Council of the Institute of Bankers Malaysia. She also
graduates from Executive Development Program, Chicago
Booth, Executive Education.
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Choong Seang Heng

Managing Director / Chief
Executive Officer

Malaysian
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Mr. Choong Seang Heng (“Mr Frankie Choong”) was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of RHB Bank
Lao Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL") on 1 November 2020 and
as a Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director on 25 May
2021.

Previously, Mr Frankie Choong was the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of RHBBLL with effect from 1 February
2020.

He joined RHB Bank Bhd, on 18 August 1989. He has
more than 30 years’ experience in the Banking Industry
with proven track record in Retail & Commercial Banking
and Bank Sales & Services. As the Chief Executive Officer,
Mr Frankie Choong is responsible for the overall growth
and profitability of RHBBLL.

Mr Frankie Choong holds a Master in Business and
Administration from University Utara Malaysia, Bachelor
of Art in Psychology and Communication from University
Kebangsaan Malaysia and a Certified Financial Planner of
Financial Planning Association of Malaysia.
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Danny Quah Boon Leng

Non-Independent Non-Executive
Director

Singaporean
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Mr. Danny Quah Boon Leng was appointed as Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director of RHB Bank Lao
Sole Co., Ltd (“RHBBLL”) on 30 September 2024.

Mr. Danny joined RHB Singapore as CEO and Country
Head in February 2019, and leads the formulation and
execution of business strategy for the overall Singapore
business, covering Commercial Banking, Investment
Banking and Asset Management.

Mr. Danny is also responsible for driving profitability and
growth of the businesses in Singapore and collaboration
across the region, working closely with other Businesses
within the Group to maximize opportunities and synergies.

He has almost 30 years of experience in the banking
sector, holding various senior positions with multinational
organizations such as Standard Chartered Bank, Fullerton
Credit Services and Canadia Bank, across five countries in
the Asia Pacific region. This includes more than 10 years
of experience in CEO and Country Head positions.

He holds a Bachelor in Information System Engineering
from the Imperial College of Science, Technology &
Medicine (London).
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Key Responsibilities

The Board is in charged with leading and governing the Company in an effective, efficient and
responsible manner. The Directors, collectively and individually, are aware of their responsibilities to
shareholders/ stakeholders and the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed. They
discharge their roles and duties with integrity, honesty and professionalism within the ambit of the law
to serve the interest of the Company’s shareholders and stakeholders, and ensure the Company adheres
to the highest standards of corporate governance.

The Board assumes an active role and takes full responsibility for key strategy setting, business
plans, financial objectives and major capital and operating budgets. While the Board scrutinizes the
frameworks and policies proposed by the Management, the Board also monitors the Management’s
performance in implementing the adopted strategies as well as provides direction and advice to ensure
the achievement of the objectives.

Rights and Duties of the Board of Directors
Without limiting the generality thereof, the Board of Directors has the following rights and duties:
1. To elaborate on and implement resolutions of the Shareholders’ meeting;

2. To determine the strategy, policy, administrative management, risk management, audit and other
policies related to the Bank’s business operations;

3. Toapprove the Rules and Operations manuals recommended by the Board of Directors’ Committees;
4. To be responsible for commercial bank activities in accordance with relevant law and regulations;

5. To receive the information promptly and properly on the credit, important risk, loan and asset
classification, loan provision and asset depreciation and risks arose by asset which may causes
damage to a commercial bank from time to time;

6. To explain, answer [question related], and provide detailed information on the operations at the
Shareholders’ meeting;

7. To recommend the division of profits into funds and the allocation of dividends at the Shareholders’
meeting for consideration;

8. To propose business plans at the Sharecholders’ meeting for consideration and approval,
9. To appoint the Board of Directors’ committee;
10. To appoint or remove the Managing Director/ Chief Executive Officer;

11. To approve the appointment of Deputy Managing Director(s)/ Deputy Chief Executive Officer(s),
based on the recommendation of the Managing Director/ Chief Executive Officer;

12. To report on the operations of the Bank at the Shareholders’ meeting;

13. To exercise such other rights and perform such other duties as provided in the charter of the Bank.
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Meetings & Minutes

The Board shall meet at least once in every three (3) months, or more as and when/ required.

Subject to relevant laws and guidelines, the quorum of the meetings shall not be less than half of
the total number of the Directors.

The Board may convene meetings at any place in Lao or any other country.

The Board is also allowed to approve resolutions by way of circulation.

Board Audit Committee

As of 31 December 2024, the Board Audit Committee consisted of three members as follows:

No.

1
2
3

Member Position
Mr. Lim Cheng Teck Chairman
Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Committee
Ms. Wendy Ting Wei Ling Committee

Key Responsibilities

1.
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The Board Audit Committee (“the Committee’) is directly accountable to the Board and the Board
will continue to be accountable for all matters relating to RHBBLL. Whilst the Committee reports
to the Board, all minutes are to be tabled to RHB Bank Berhad’s Board Audit Committee as part
of the Group oversight requirements. Audit reports will also be given as and when required by
RHB Bank Berhad’s Board Audit Committee.

To ensure that the Internal Audit Department is distinct and has the appropriate status within
the overall organizational structure for the internal auditors to effectively accomplish their audit
objectives.

To review the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management processes including the
scope of the internal audit program and the appropriateness of the risk assessment methodology
employed to determine the frequency and scope of audits.

To ensure that the reporting relationship of the internal audit staff do not impede the exercise
of independent judgement by the internal auditors. In particular, the reports of internal auditors
should be subject to the clearance of the Managing Director/ Chief Executive Officer or any
Executive Directors.

To ensure that all findings and recommendations are resolved effectively and in a timely manner.

To make appropriate public disclosure of the terms of reference and the activities of the Committee
in the entity’s financial statements, if required.

To review quarterly results and year-end financial statements and to recommend the same to the
Board for approval whilst ensuring that it is prepared in a timely and accurate manner complying
with all applicable accounting and regulatory requirements and are promptly published.

To regularly review the adequacy of provisions made and to recommend the same to the Boards
for approval.



10.

11.

12.
13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.
19.

20.

21.
22.

23.

24.
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To review any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise, including
any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of the Management integrity.

To review with the external and internal auditors whether the employees of RHBBLL have given
them appropriate assistance in discharging their duties.

To review the adequacy of the scope, functions and resources of the Internal Audit function and
that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work.

To review and approve the Internal Audit plan, audit charter and the budget for the audit plan.

To ensure that Internal Audit staff receives necessary training to perform audit work. There shall
be a program of continuing education and training to enable the internal auditors to keep abreast
of business trends and latest developments at both the institution and industry levels, as well as
to enhance technical skills required to effectively support the audit function.

To appraise the performance of the Head of Internal Audit and to review the appraisals of senior
staff members of the Internal Audit function.

To approve any appointment or termination of the Head of Internal Audit or senior staff members
of the Internal Audit function and to review any resignations of Internal Audit staff members and
provide resigning staff members an opportunity to submit reasons for resigning, where necessary.

To review with the external auditors, the nature and scope of their audit plan, their evaluation
of the system of internal controls and their management letter and discuss any matter that the
external auditors may wish to raise in the absence of management, where necessary.

To recommend to the Board on the appointment and the annual re-appointment of the external
auditors and assessing their audit fees, after taking into consideration the independence and
objectivity of the external auditors and the cost effectiveness of their audit.

To discuss and review with the external auditors any proposal from them to resign as auditors.

To investigate reasons for any request made by the Management to dismiss the external auditors,
or any resignation by the external auditors. The results of the investigation shall be disclosed to
the Board together with the recommendations on proposed actions to be taken.

To review non-audit services rendered by the external auditors together with the related fees and
thereafter approving or recommending the same to the Board for approval (whichever relevant),
in accordance with the Group Policy on Non-Audit Fees payable to the external auditors.

To review the co-ordination of audit activities between external and internal auditors.

To review inspection and examination reports issued by any regulatory authority and to ensure
prompt and appropriate actions are taken in respect of any findings.

To review the minutes of meetings of management audit committees or other relevant committee
(if any) within RHBBLL to the extent permitted by the relevant regulatory authorities and be
satisfied that all matters arising therefrom are being appropriately addressed by these management
audit committees.

To perform any other functions as authorized by the Boards.
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Rights and Duties of Board Audit Committee

The Board Audit Committee shall at the minimum have the following rights and duties:

1.

10.

11.
12.
13.
14.
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To establish and amend policies regarding financial report and internal controls system inspection,
accounting, information system including an internal audit of commercial bank in order to present
to the Board of Directors for approval;

To give guidance on establishment and amendment of manuals and present to the Board of
Directors for approval and to monitor, inspect and report to the board of director about the
implementation of the manuals;

To inspect the operations activities of a commercial bank including execution of business plan,
resolutions of Board of Directors’ meeting in accordance with the manual and internal rules and
law;

To determine qualification requirement of internal auditors;

To approve the engagement or termination of an external audit firm and determine the scope of
the audit as agreed by the Board of Directors;

To monitor and assess the quality of service of the external audit company, independence in
relation to all relationships between the independent external auditor and the Bank;

To request for the annual audited financial report and quarterly financial report, internal audit
report and external audit report with relevant management and the independent external auditor
for checking and discuss on the matters;

To provide advice for audit related matters

To monitor and inspect the administrators’ efforts to correct deficiencies described in an audit
examination;

To discuss with legal consultants, accounting consultants and other advisors as agreed by the
board of director;

To deliver opinions on the issues raised by the Board of Directors and administrators
To summarize and evaluate its annual performance;
To report its performance to the Board of Directors from time to time;

Perform rights and other related duties determined in law and regulations.
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Meetings & Minutes

The Committee shall preferably meet at least once every two months or whenever deemed
necessary at the discretion of the Chairman;

The quorum of the meetings shall be at least two (2) members or 50% of the total members,
whichever is higher;

The Committee may convene meetings at any place in Lao or any other country;
The Committee is also allowed to approve resolutions by way of circulation;

Resolutions, proposals and matters tabled for approvals at any meeting of the Committee shall be
decided by majority of the members present; and

The Company Secretary shall act as Secretary of the Committee and shall be responsible for:
Drawing up the agenda with the concurrence of the Chairman

Writing and safe-keeping the minutes of meeting and submission to Board.

Board Risk Committee

As of 31 December 2024, the Board Risk Committee consisted of three members as follows:

No.

1
2
3

Member Position
Ms. Wendy Ting Wei Ling Chairman
Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Committee
Mr. Lim Cheng Teck Committee

Key Responsibilities

Risk Strategy

1. To provide risk oversight and guidance to RHBBLL’s business operations through the support of
an effective internal risk management framework and sound risk strategies.

2. To review and recommend, risk management policies and procedures, controls and systems of
RHBBLL in line with the approved risk management philosophy and strategy of RHBBLL and
RHB Group.

3. To ensure that RHBBLL'’s business and operations are in line with RHBBLL’s and the overall
RHB Group'’s risk strategy and profile

4. To deliberate and assess the nature and materiality of the risk exposures and its impact on
RHBBLL's capital and business.

5. Recommending new/ existing products with material variations in product features to the Board

for approval.
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Risk Organization

1.

To oversee the overall management of risks covering market risk management, asset and liability
management, credit risk management, operational risk management and compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations

To establish clear and independent reporting lines and responsibilities for the overall business
activities and risk management and control functions.

To cultivate a proactive risk management and compliance culture within RHBBLL, so that risk
management processes are applied in the day-to-day business and activities.

To supervise the independent review of the RHBBLL’s risk management infrastructure,
capabilities, environment and processes where necessary.

Rights and Duties of Board Risk Committee

To avoid or reduce risks that may occur to the Bank, the Board Risk Committee shall, at the minimum,
have the following rights and duties:

1.

To establish and amend policies regarding the risk management of commercial bank and
recommend to the Board of Directors for approval;

To give guidance on establishment and amendment of manuals and present to the Board of
Directors for approval and to monitor, inspect and report to the Board of Director about the
implementation of the manuals;

To determine the eligible requirement of the risk management officer;

To deliver opinions on any matters submitted to it by the Board of Directors or that it wishes to
address;

To summarizes and evaluate its annual performance;
To report its performance to the Board of Director from time to time; and

To perform rights and other related duties determined in law and regulations.

Meetings & Minutes

1.
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The Committee shall preferably meet at least once every two months or whenever deemed
necessary at the discretion of the Chairman;

The quorum of the meetings shall be at least two (2) members or 50% of the total members,
whichever is higher;

The Committee may convene meetings at any place in Lao or any other country;
The Committee is also allowed to approve resolutions by way of circulation;

Resolutions, proposals and matters tabled for approvals at any meeting of the Committee shall be
decided by majority of the members present; and

The Company Secretary shall act as Secretary of the Committee and shall be responsible for:

- Drawing up the agenda with the concurrence of the Chairman

- Writing and safe-keeping the minutes of meeting and submission to Board.
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Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) Committee

As of 31 December 2024, the Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) Committee (“BNR(G)
C”) consisted of three members as follows:

No. Member Position

1 Mr. Chin Yoong Kheong Chairman
2 Mr. Lim Cheng Teck Committee
3 Mr. Wendy Ting Wei Ling Committee
Key Responsibilities

The terms of reference of the RHBBLL’s BNR(G)C with regard to its nomination roles are as follows: -

1.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

To establish a documented procedure for the appointment of Directors, Board Committee members
and key Senior Management officers.

To establish and recommend for Board’s approval, minimum requirements for Directors and key
Senior Management officers.

To establish and recommend for Board’s approval, the optimal size and mix of skills to ensure
efficient operation of the Committee.

To assess and recommend for Board’s approval, new and re-appointed nominees for directorship,
Board Committee members and key Senior Management officers.

To establish and recommend for Board’s approval, the expectations on time commitment for the
Board members and protocols for accepting new directorships.

To establish and recommend for Board’s approval, a mechanism for the formal assessment of the
Board’s performance as a whole, each Director and key Senior Management officers.

To review performance assessment results and recommend to the Board, the removal of any
Director or key Senior Management officer found to be ineffective, errant and negligent in the
discharge or responsibilities.

To ensure Directors and Board Committee members receive appropriate induction and continuous
training programs for closure of skills gaps and keeping abreast with latest developments.

To establish and recommend for Board’s approval, the criteria assess independence of independent
directors.

To assess annually the independence of Independent Directors and that the Directors and officers
of RHBBLL meet the identified independence criteria and are not disqualified under relevant
regulations.

To review and recommend for Board’s approval, any significant change in the organization
structure of the RHBBLL.

Whenever key expatriates are employed, to ensure there is in place a process for the transfer of
expertise and skills from the expatriates to the staff of RHBBLL.

To recommend to the Board, a policy regarding the period of service for the Executive and Non-
Executive Directors.

To perform any other functions as defined by the Board.
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Rights and Duties of Board Nominating & Remuneration (Governance) Committee

The Committee shall, at the minimum have the following rights and duties:

1.

9.

To study the establishment and amendment of the policy related the human resource management,
determine the ethical rules, principles and management election process, remuneration of
management team in order to present to the Board of Directors for approval;

To give guidance on establishment and amendment of the manuals to present to the Board
of Directors for approval and also to monitor, inspect and report to the Board of Directors the
implementation of such manuals;

To determine the eligible requirements of the governance managers;

To select, recommend for the appointment or removal of Managing Director/ CEO and Internal
Audit and recommend (them) to the Board of Directors for appointment in accordance with
established criteria;

To consider appointment of Deputy MD/ DCEO, Head of Departments, branch managers as
recommended by the Managing Director in order to present to the Board of Directors for approval;

To determine requirements and working plan for performance assessment of Board of Director
and administrators;

To propose to the board of director regarding determination of penalty to administrators who
breach the company’s rules;

To propose to the board of director regarding removal of an administrator who is not qualified or
not suitable to continue to hold the position;

To summarize and evaluate its annual performance;

10. To report its performance to the board of director from time to time;

11. To perform rights and other related duties determined in relevant law and regulations.

Meetings & Minutes
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The Committee shall preferably meet at least once every two months or whenever deemed
necessary at the discretion of the Chairman

The quorum of the meetings shall be at least two (2) members or 50% of the total members,
whichever is higher;

The Committee may convene meetings at any place in Lao or other country
The Committee is also allowed to carry out resolution by way of circulation.

Resolutions, proposals and matters tabled for approvals at any meeting of the Committee shall
be decided by majority of the members present; and the secretary shall be the Group Company
Secretary or an official from Group Secretariat Division.

The Company Secretary shall act as Secretary of the Committee and shall be responsible for:
- Drawing up the agenda with the concurrence of the Chairman

- Writing and safe-keeping the minutes of meeting and submission to Board.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Management team of RHB Bank Limited consisted of the following:

No.
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Name

Choong Seang Heng

Chiam Tau Yu

Vacant

Somphavanh Bounyasith
Phannavy Anoulack
Bounyared Luangraj
Phoonlome Sriviengphanom
Vinattha Phasathane
Azinoor Azima Binti Abu Bakar
Vacant

Vacant

Pem Khammoungkhoun
Thavone Sonenasid
Oulayvanh Siphandone
Kaysone Malaythong
Tanvinay Nguansavanh
Vacant

Thonglay Phonvilaisouk
Mayulin Sithongkham

Position

Chief Executive Officer

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Head, Loan Recovery

Head, Operations and Support

Head, Credit Evaluation

Head, Risk Management

Manager, Information Technology
Head, Compliance

Head, Human Resource & Training
Head, Credit Operation

Head, Business Development & Marketing
Head, Finance and Administration
Manager, Internal Audit

Manager, Frontline Operations
Assistant Manager, Frontline Operations
Manager, Sithan Neua Branch

Assistant Manager, Sithan Neua Branch
Manager, Dongdok Branch

Assistant Manager, Dongdok Branch

125



» LID I MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO
Financial Report 2024

PT0T BQULR( 1€ LV SV AALIAIT “0D A'TOS OVIINVI 9HY 304 TIANLONALS NOLLVSINVHIO

uoneziuedai

126



MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER I RHB BANK LAO SOLE CO., LTD

Financial Report 2024

Rights and Duties of Chief Executive Officer / Deputy Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for day-to-day operations of the Bank in accordance with
the rights and duties defined in the internal regulations of the Bank.

The Chief Executive Officer is appointed and may be removed by the Board of Directors, has a term

of office of three years, and may be re-appointed consecutively not more than 3 times.

The Chief Executive Officer can be a member of the Board of Directors, but shall not be the Chairperson
or a Deputy Chairperson of the Board of Directors or a chairman of any board committee.

The Chief Executive Officer shall have the following rights and duties:

1.

10.
11.

12.

13.

14.
15.
16.

To act as the representative of, and to sign contracts and other official documents on behalf of
the Bank

To manage day-to-day operations of the Bank

To develop and propose, or to propose adjustment to, the annual business plan to the Board of
Directors for consideration and approval, and then to implement such plan;

To appoint or remove the Deputy General Managing Director (DMD/DCEOQO) and then to propose
to the Board of Directors for approval;

To appoint or remove the Head of Department or Branch Managers

To allocate employees of the bank according to his/her authority or according to proposal of the
board of director Committee;

To appoint, remove, recruit and deploy the employees of the Bank;

To provide data and information and to give explanation on particular issues of interests to the
Board of Directors;

To develop and improve governance regulations and to propose [them] to the Board of Directors
for consideration and approval;

To be responsible to the Board of Directors for all operations of the Bank;

To recommend to the Board of Directors for consideration and approval, the establishment of
branches and affiliates or investments in other businesses;

To determine the salary structure for, and to implement reward policies and sanctions towards the
employees of the Bank, in accordance with regulations of the Bank;

To cooperate with, and to provide data, information and explanations, to the internal audit
committee and external auditors;

To provide explanations and necessary documents as required by the Board of Directors;
To report on the operations of the Bank to the Board of Directors and its committees;

To exercise other rights, and perform other duties as provided under the regulations.
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Company Secretary

The Board acknowledges and is satisfied with the performance and support rendered by the Company
Secretary. In addition to acting as the custodian of the Company’s statutory records, the Company
Secretary serves and advises the Board on matters relating to the affairs of the Board and good corporate
governance practices, ensure that Board meetings are appropriately convened and maintains an accurate
and proper record of the proceedings and minutes of the meetings.

In promoting good corporate governance practices, the Company Secretary assists the Board and Senior
Management in meeting regulatory requirements and best practices specifically pertaining to Board
governance. This includes making proposals on transparency and mandatory/voluntary disclosure on
governance issues which are relevant and materially important to the stakeholders.

The role of the Company Secretary also includes assisting the Chairman and Directors in conducting
meetings and discharging their governance obligations and responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

Additionally, the Company Secretary facilitates the communication of key decisions and policies
between the Board, Board Committees and the Senior Management, updating the Board on the follow-
up or implementation of decisions/recommendations.

In order to play an effective advisory role to the Board, the Company Secretary is kept abreast with the
latest, industry developments and best practices in corporate governance.
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Message from the Chief Executive Officer

Dear Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors and the entire team at RHB Bank Lao Sole Co., Ltd., I am pleased
to present our 2024 annual report.

2024 presented a dynamic and challenging economic environment, the Lao government expects GDP to
grow by 4.6% in 2024 while inflation hovered at the range of 20%. Public debt continues to constrain
investment prospects and domestic consumption resulting in a challenging business environment which
are structural constraints weighing down growth.

Despite these challenges, we remained steadfast in our commitment to delivering comprehensive
banking and financial solutions to our valued customers in the Lao PDR. We are proud to highlight the
following key achievements during this period:

* The bank managed to achieve 0.00% NPL ratio within 2024 by effective credit risk management
and prudent management existing asset while attaining zero new Non-Performing Loan (NPL)
for FY2024.

* Expanded customer base by welcoming reputable local corporate customers while deepening
relationships with existing portfolio.

We will continue to capitalize on market opportunities as we navigate ongoing financial volatility
into 2025. Our approach will focus on maintaining a balanced portfolio, diversifying across resilient
asset classes, and identifying growth sectors, ensuring that we support our clients’ financial goals
despite market uncertainties

RHB's sustainability journey commenced in 2018 with a vision to foster a brighter future for
generations to come. Our Group Sustainability Framework serves as our guiding principle,
integrating Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) considerations into all our endeavors.
Under the current year’s theme of “Small Act Big Impact”, RHB Bank undertook a community
outreach project at Pak Ton Primary School in Sangthong district, refurbishing the school

building, replacing damaged equipment, and providing essential learning materials to the students.
Concurrently undertaking a tree-planting initiative to enhance the school’s green spaces. We continue
to equip our team to understanding the importance of Environmental, Sustainability and Governance,
so in order to contribute to a more sustainable future.

We are confident that with our dedicated team and unwavering commitment to excellence, RHB Bank
Lao Sole Co., Ltd. is well-positioned for continued success in the years to come.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our customers, shareholders, employees, and business
partners for their continued support and trust. Finally, I want to acknowledge and thank our dedicated
team whose hard work and dedication make our achievements possible.
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Sincerely,

We confirm that the Bank has complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2024.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

{efiogajo
RHB Bank Lao

Choong Seang Heng
Chief Executive Officer

01 April 2025
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